
 

 
 
Notice of meeting of  

Corporate Parenting Board 
 
To: Councillors Funnell, Looker, Potter, Scott, Wiseman, 

Brooks, Cuthbertson and Runciman 
 

Date: Tuesday, 10 July 2012 
 

Time: 5.30 pm 
 

Venue: The Guildhall, York 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 
 
 
1. Election of Chair    
 To formally elect a Chair of the Group 

 
2. Election of Vice-Chair    
 To formally elect a Vice-Chair of the Group. 

 
3. Declarations of Interests    
 At this point in the meeting, Members will be invited to declare 

any personal or prejudicial interests they may have in the 
business on the agenda. 
 
 

4. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or 
an issue within the Board’s remit can do so. The deadline for 
registering is 5pm the working day before the meeting, in this 
case 5pm on Monday 9th July 2012. 
 
To register, or for further information, please contact the 
Democracy Officer for the meeting using the details at the foot of 
this agenda.   
 



 
5. Scene Setting for the Work of the 

Corporate Parenting Board   
(Pages 3 - 106) 

 The Corporate Parenting Board has been established to provide 
a forum for elected members to oversee the progress of all 
looked after children , through the implementation of the Looked 
After Children’s Strategy 2012-15. This report provides 
background information which will inform the future work of the 
Board. 

6. Terms of Reference   (Pages 107 - 110) 
 This is the first meeting of the Board following its establishment in 

the new council constitution. Members of the Board will be asked 
to consider a draft set of terms of reference. 
 

7. 2012/13 Work Plan and Future Meeting Dates    
 Members are asked to agree a work plan of the Corporate 

Parenting Board for the 2012/13 municipal year and to set future 
meeting dates. 
 

8. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the 

Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Democracy Officers: 
 
Names: Catherine Clarke and Louise Cook (job share) 
Contact Details: 

• Telephone – (01904) 551031 
• E-mail – catherine.clarke@york.gov.uk  and  

louise.cook@york.gov.uk  
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting Catherine 
Clarke and Louise Cook Democracy Officers 
 

• Registering to speak 
• Written Representations 
• Business of the meeting 
• Any special arrangements 
• Copies of reports 



About City of York Council Meetings 
 
Would you like to speak at this meeting? 
If you would, you will need to: 

• register by contacting the Democracy Officer (whose name and 
contact details can be found on the agenda for the meeting) no 
later than 5.00 pm on the last working day before the meeting; 

• ensure that what you want to say speak relates to an item of 
business on the agenda or an issue which the committee has 
power to consider (speak to the Democracy Officer for advice 
on this); 

• find out about the rules for public speaking from the Democracy 
Officer. 

A leaflet on public participation is available on the Council’s 
website or from Democratic Services by telephoning York 
(01904) 551088 
 
Further information about what’s being discussed at this 
meeting 
All the reports which Members will be considering are available for 
viewing online on the Council’s website.  Alternatively, copies of 
individual reports or the full agenda are available from Democratic 
Services.  Contact the Democracy Officer whose name and contact 
details are given on the agenda for the meeting. Please note a 
small charge may be made for full copies of the agenda 
requested to cover administration costs. 
 
Access Arrangements 
We will make every effort to make the meeting accessible to you.  
The meeting will usually be held in a wheelchair accessible venue 
with an induction hearing loop.  We can provide the agenda or 
reports in large print, electronically (computer disk or by email), in 
Braille or on audio tape.  Some formats will take longer than others 
so please give as much notice as possible (at least 48 hours for 
Braille or audio tape).   
 
If you have any further access requirements such as parking close-
by or a sign language interpreter then please let us know.  Contact 
the Democracy Officer whose name and contact details are given 
on the order of business for the meeting. 
 
Every effort will also be made to make information available in 
another language, either by providing translated information or an 

Agenda AnnexPage 1



interpreter providing sufficient advance notice is given.  Telephone 
York (01904) 551550 for this service. 

 
 
Holding the Cabinet to Account 
The majority of councillors are not appointed to the Cabinet (39 out 
of 47).  Any 3 non-Cabinet councillors can ‘call-in’ an item of 
business following a Cabinet meeting or publication of a Cabinet 
Member decision. A specially convened Corporate and Scrutiny 
Management Committee (CSMC) will then make its 
recommendations to the next scheduled Cabinet meeting, where a 
final decision on the ‘called-in’ business will be made.  
 
Scrutiny Committees 
The purpose of all scrutiny and ad-hoc scrutiny committees 
appointed by the Council is to:  

• Monitor the performance and effectiveness of services; 
• Review existing policies and assist in the development of new 

ones, as necessary; and 
• Monitor best value continuous service improvement plans 

 
Who Gets Agenda and Reports for our Meetings?  

• Councillors get copies of all agenda and reports for the 
committees to which they are appointed by the Council; 

• Relevant Council Officers get copies of relevant agenda and 
reports for the committees which they report to;  

• Public libraries get copies of all public agenda/reports.  
 

Page 2



 

 

  
 

   

 
Corporate Parenting Board 10 July 2012 
 
Report of the Director of Adults, Children and Education 
 
Scene Setting for the Work of the Corporate Parenting Board 

 

Summary 

1. The council is committed to ensuring that every looked after child 
has the best possible start in life, is given help to achieve their 
potential and experiences safe and positive parenting.   

2. The Corporate Parenting Board has been established to provide a 
forum for elected members to oversee the progress of all looked 
after children , through the implementation of the Looked After 
Children’s Strategy 2012-15 

3. It is noted that this is the first meeting of the newly established 
Board.  This report provides background information which will 
inform the future work of the Board. 

  Background 

4. The Looked After Children’s Strategy 2012-15 was published in 
March 2012, with endorsement by the Cabinet Member for 
Children, The Chief Executive and the Director of Adults, Children 
and Education.  It followed extensive consultation with children 
and young people in care, their families, their foster carers and all 
partner agencies, who work to support these children. 

5. This document is a key source for the work of the board.  There 
are action plans relating to all of the strands of the strategy, which 
will be reviewed at the Strategic Partnership for Looked After 
Children regularly.  The plans relate to Respect and Involvement; 
Good, Safe Placements: Relationships; Identity; Education; 
Health; Emotional Wellbeing; Moving into Adulthood and 
Corporate Parenting. 

Agenda Item 5Page 3



 

6. Consideration of the strategy will inform the proposed reporting 
schedule to the board in relation to all of these important areas for 
looked after children and partner services.  The strategy is 
attached at Annex A. 

7. The document prepared by the Local Government Improvement 
and Development agency provides valuable guidance for elected 
members upon the areas of corporate parenting responsibilities.  
Consideration of the key questions included may shape the 
reporting requirements from partners working with looked after 
children, young people and care leavers.  The guidance is 
attached at Annex B. 

8. Ofsted undertook an in depth inspection of the services provided 
by City of York in relation to safeguarding of children and looked 
after children in March 2012.  It was published in May 2012 and 
provides a valuable basis for the new board to understand the 
context of local services and the findings of an inspection by 
Ofsted.  The report is attached as Annex C. 

Consultation  

9. The Looked After Children’s strategy was published following 
consultation with the Show Me That I Matter Panel (the children in 
care council) and I Matter Too (a younger children’s consultation 
group).  There was further consultation with foster carers and all 
partner agencies, who contribute to the care and support of looked 
after children.   

Options 
  

10. There are no options for decision, as the information provided is 
intended to establish a work plan and reporting schedule for the 
quarterly meetings of the Board. 

 
Analysis 

 
11. Not applicable 
 

Council Plan 
 

12. The Corporate Parenting Board will be ensuring that the work of 
partners for looked after children contributes to the aims of:  

Page 4



 

• The Children and Young People’s Plan  

• Building strong communities 

• Protecting vulnerable people  
 

13. Through the positive outcomes for looked after children, the aim is 
for them to be able to benefit from and contribute to 

• Get York moving 

• Create jobs and grow the economy 

• Protect the environment 
 

  Implications 

14. There are no implications relating to Financial, Human Resources, 
Equalities, Legal, Crime and Disorder, Information Technology or 
Property arising from this report. 

 
Risk Management 

 
15.  Not applicable 

 
  Recommendations 

16. Members are asked to consider the information contained in the 
Looked After Children’s Strategy, the LGID guidance and The 
Ofsted report. 

17. It is recommended that the Board requests a schedule of quarterly 
reports from the Director of Adults, Children and Education 
relating to the progress of the department and its key partners in 
progressing the actions to achieve York’s vision for looked after 
children.   

Reason: To enable the Corporate Parenting Board to establish the key 
areas around which future Board work will be focussed, which 
will assist in holding the council officers and its partners to 
account in improving the life experiences and chances of 
York’s looked after children. 

Page 5



 

Contact Details 

Author:  
Howard Lovelady, Head of 
Service (Resources) 
Children’s Social Care, 
ACE 
Tel: 555357 
 

Chief Officer Responsible for the 
report:  
Eoin Rush 
Assistant Director (Children and Families) 
Tel: 554212 
 

 Report Approved � Date 3 July 2012 

 
Specialist Implications Officer(s 
Not applicable 
 
Wards Affected:   All � 
 
For further information please contact the author of the report 
 
Background Papers: 

Annex A - Looked After Children’s Strategy 2012-15 

Annex B - Scrutinising Services for Looked After Children 

Annex C - Ofsted Inspection Report: Safeguarding and Looked After 
Children: March 2012 

Page 6



Looked After Children Strategy
2012 - 2015
Improving the outcomes for our Looked After Children 

and Care Leavers

Working together with Children, 
Young People and Families

Page 7



2

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

Contents

1. Introduction Page 3

2. York’s vision for Looked After Children Page 4

3. York’s pledge to children and young people in care Page 5

4. Who are we? Page 6

5. Outcomes for Looked After Children Strategy Page 7

6. Our strategy for Looked after Children Page 9

7. Delivering, monitoring and reviewing our action plan Page 24

8. Annex 1 – Planning arrangements Page 25

Annex 2 – Aims and expectations of the ‘Show Me That I Matter’ panel Page 26

Annex 3 – The role of ‘I Matter 2’ Page 27

Annex 4 – The pledge for Looked After Children (long version) Page 28

Annex 5 – References     Page 33

Page 8



Introduction
We are delighted to introduce this strategy, “Improving the outcomes for our Looked
After Children and Care Leavers.”

Here in York there is no greater priority.

As a council we are committed to ensuring that every Looked After Child has the best
possible start in life, is given help to achieve their potential and experiences safe and
positive parenting. Our Looked After Children come to us for all sorts of reasons and at every
age, infant to teenagers. This strategy and its pledge is for every single one of them,
whatever their circumstances. 

The priorities in this document are drawn from what our Looked After Children and Young
People have told us is important to them. It features the York Pledge – a promise given by
the council and its partners about the quality and nature of care that any child or young
person can expect if they become looked after. Our strategy is also informed by the outcome
of national surveys and features the voices of children in care, as represented through the
“100 days of care” report.

Our Looked After Children and Care Leavers rely on all agencies to work together to meet
their needs. Such a joined up approach is only possible when everyone understands and
accepts their responsibilities for this group of children and young people. 

This strategy describes the contributions of all partner agencies that are required to further
improve outcomes for this group of children and young people.

The annual Action Plan that accompanies this document sets out clearly how we will
deliver our priorities, who will lead this work and where it will be monitored and reviewed. 

The strength of this document and the strategy it describes lies in the continued and active
engagement of all our Looked After Children and Young People. We are determined to
ensure that this engagement remains a central feature of everything we do.

We believe that this strategy will support our joint working on the most important issues, to
achieve the best possible outcomes for all our Looked After Children and Care Leavers here
in York.

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

3

Cllr Janet
Looker
Cabinet Member
for Education,
Children and
Young People

Kersten
England
Chief Executive

Pete Dwyer
Director, Adults,
Children and
Education

Page 9



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

York’s Vision for Looked After
Children
The vision of the York strategy for Looked After Children is simple - we want our children and
young people to have everything that good parents want for their children.

We want our Looked After Children and Young People to work with us, along with their
parents and carers, in shaping how we manage and organise the planning, resources and
services that support and care for them.

We want our children and young people to be happy and healthy, both physically and
emotionally, to be safe and protected from harm and exploitation, and to be supported each
step of the way to adult life.

We want them to achieve their potential, especially at school, to make the most of the
learning opportunities they are offered and to participate in the decisions affecting their care
and their lives. This includes making the transition to adulthood with continuity of support,
access to good jobs and higher education, while living in good housing and being financially
secure.

Our strategy invites us to work together with common purpose, putting the care of our
Looked After Children at the heart of everything we do.

4

Page 10



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

Cllr Janet
Looker
Cabinet Member
for Education,
Children and
Young People

Kersten
England
Chief Executive

Pete Dwyer
Director, Adults,
Children and
Education

York’s Pledge to Children and
Young People in Care
City of York Council’s commitment to children and young people in care, written by
young people and endorsed by the Strategic Partnership for Looked After Children.

1.  Good quality placements will be found for all children and young people that need them.

2.  We will help you to keep in contact with family and friends wherever possible.

3.  You will have your own social worker who is reliable, trustworthy and who will listen and
treat you with respect.

4.  We will support and encourage you with your learning, education and training.

5.  We will respect difference and support you as an individual.

6.  We will arrange your child care reviews in a way that best suits you and covers the things
that are important to you.

7.  You will be made aware of your rights, choices and the things that you are entitled to,
including your right to complain if you are unhappy.

8.  We will support you to lead a healthy and happy life.

9.  We will support any interests you may have and encourage you to take part in any
activities that would be good for you.

10.  To help with your move into adulthood we will support you with training, housing,
managing your money, and will make sure that you have someone to talk to about the
things that are important to you.

You will be routinely asked by your Independent Reviewing Officer whether you feel the
Council is keeping this promise to you. If not you can contact the Rights and Advocacy
Service on 07769725174 and we will try and find out why this has happened and most
importantly try to make sure things change for you.

Page 11



“The vision of the York Strategy for Looked After Children is simple: we want
our children and young people to have everything that good parents want
for their children.”                       

Who Are We?

6

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

City of York 
Council, Integrated

Youth Support 
Services including The

Youth Offending Team,
Housing and Sport 

and Leisure 
Services

Foster Carers/
Children’s Homes 
whether City of York 

Council or independent
providers

Parents, relatives 
and friends of Looked 

After Children

City of York Council
Elected Members and
Corporate Parenting

Board

City of York
Safeguarding 

Children Board, Safer
York Partnership,
Police/PVP and

CAFCASS

City of York Council
Schools and other
education services

YorOK Board and
the Health and

Wellbeing Board

Commissioners and
providers of health
services, including

Mental Health 
Services

Other providers of 
services to children 

in the voluntary and 
not-for-profit 

sector
City of York 

Council, Social
Workers, Support

Workers, Residential
Workers, IROs and

Managers

Children’s Rights 
and Independent 
Visitor Service

Looked After 
Children and 
Young People

A partnership with representatives from all of the above groups makes up our Strategic
Partnership for Looked After Children.  This group will be responsible for ensuring the
effective delivery of our strategy. 

Page 12



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

7

Outcomes for Looked After
Children Strategy   
Informed by what our Looked After Children and Care Leavers have told us is
important to them, we have identified nine key outcomes which are at the
heart of this strategy.

These outcomes are:

1. Respect And Involvement
All those involved with children and young people
treat them with respect, listen to their views and
are reliable and trustworthy. Children and young 
people are involved in, and understand, the
decisions made about their lives. They know how
to get the information, advice and support they
need, and how to complain. 

2. Good, Safe Placements
Children and young people are in good placements 
where they feel safe and supported, and can 
remain for as long as they need to. They receive
information about their placement in advance 
and are listened to if they have concerns about it
at any time. The placement feels like home and 
provides them with a positive experience of 
family life or residential care.

3. Relationships
Children and young people are supported to
maintain, build and sustain positive relationships
with others, including their birth families, siblings 
in care, carers and their peers.

4. Identity
Children and young people know who they are, 
why they are looked after and understand their
heritage. They feel valued by others, and their
individual needs arising from race, culture, 
religion, sexual orientation or disability are 
understood and met.

“We want adults to really listen
to us and act on what we say.”

“We want adults to be respectful.”

We don’t want placements too far
away from home or school.”

“I think my move went well
because I was well prepared and

met the carers beforehand.”

“My social worker
helped me understand why I 

was in care.”

Page 13



8

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

5. Education
Children and young people receive a planned and
stable education which enables them to fulfil their
educational, social and emotional potential, and to
have high aspirations for their future.

6. Health
The health needs of children and young people are 
assessed and planned for, and they have 
appropriate access to all the health services they
require. They are well and happy, and choosing
healthy and active lifestyles.

7. Emotional Wellbeing
Children and young people have any need for
additional emotional support recognised and
addressed, and have the knowledge and skills to
achieve emotional stability, resilience and 
self-confidence.

8. Moving To Adulthood
Children and young people enter adulthood in a
planned way, with a home to live in, the skills to
look after themselves and the ability to earn a
living or continue in education. They feel 
confident about the future.

9. Corporate Parenting
City of York Council and its partners recognise 
and act upon their responsibilities to children and 
young people, particularly in relation to access to
leisure and cultural activities, housing, work
experience and employment opportunities. 
They act towards Looked After Children and Young 
People as good parents would in any family.

“Looked After Children
need someone trusted to talk to in
confidence about health issues.”

“My social worker explained my
circumstances in advance so I wasn’t

made to feel I stood out.”

“When you start your
placement, the social worker should

stay a while to help you settle.”

“As you leave care, it is
really important to have someone 

to ring for support.”

“We want to know that
we are important.”

Page 14



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

9

Strategy for Looked after Children

1. Respect And Involvement

All those involved with children and young people treat them with respect, listen to their
views and are reliable and trustworthy. Children and young people are involved in, and
understand, the decisions made about their lives. They know how to get the information,
advice and support they need, and how to complain.

York’s Pledge to Children and Young People in Care says:

� You will have your own social worker who is reliable, trustworthy and who will listen and
treat you with respect.

� You will be made aware of your rights, choices and the things you are entitled to, including
your right to complain if you are unhappy.

� We will arrange your child care reviews in a way that best suits you and covers the things
that are important to you.

What we know about children and young people’s experience:

Nationally (Ofsted Children’s Care Monitor 2010)

� 53% of children and young people said their opinion was usually/always sought on things
that mattered to them.

� 15% said that their opinion is not usually/never sought.
� 51% thought their opinions make a difference to the decisions about their lives.

Nationally (Children on Independent Reviewing Officers 2011)

� 71% who had an IRO said they knew how to contact their IRO, and 29% said they didn’t
know how to contact them.

Locally (CYC Pledge Consultation 2011)

� Children and young people want social workers who care, are reliable and will listen and
treat them with respect.

� They want more information about what is going to happen to them and where they are
going to live.

� They think their reviews can be long, boring and repetitive, and their views don’t make
much difference.

� They liked the experience of being consulted as a group, and want to do more of it.

Page 15



10

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

Locally (CYC Quality Assurance data) 

� Too few children and young people are directly consulted by the reviewing officer before
their review.

� 98% of over 5s communicate their views to reviews, mostly by indirect means.

What we have done so far:

� We have two active groups, Show Me That I Matter (SMTIM) aged 11 and over, and I Matter Too
(IM2) aged 8-11, of children and young people in which they can talk about their experiences
and wishes to responsible people, including councillors, and influence decision-making.

� Children and young people have taken part in a research consultation exercise with York
University to inform the City of York Council’s Pledge, and participated in the making of a
DVD to promote this.

� Reviewing officers are improving participation in reviews by encouraging children and
young people to chair and/or evaluate their reviews.

� All newly Looked After Children receive an introductory visit from their IRO to explain the role. 

� The Children’s Rights and Advocacy Service provides volunteer advocates when requested,
and provides advice and support, including at reviews.

� It has also set up a Facebook page and is developing a children and young people’s website.

What we are going to do next:

� Extend our current consultation and involvement of children and young people to a wider,
more representative group, so that it fulfils the function of a Children in Care Council.

� Ensure all Looked After Children receive a ‘Rate My Review’ postcard from their IRO to get
feedback about their experience of the care planning process.

� Increase the number of children and young people actively participating in their reviews,
year on year, and ensure that children and young people feel that their involvement in their
reviews has made a difference.

� Find ways of ensuring that care
planning decisions, such as
change of placement, are not
made outside the review 
process, and that children and
young people are involved in
these decisions.

� Provide children and young
people who are old enough to
have them with a copy of their
placement plan.

I’m extremely

grateful for kno
wing

that there is

someone who is

familiar with me and

my background,

who doesn’t ju
dge,

who I can alwa
ys

talk to for some

advice or guida
nce

during weekda
y

working hours,

gives me a sense

of assurance th
at

I’m not alone.

Ofsed - ‘100 day
s of care’ 2011

Page 16



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

2. Good, Safe Placements

Children and young people are in good placements where they feel safe and supported, and
can remain for as long as they need to. They receive information about their placement in
advance and are listened to if they have concerns about it at any time. The placement feels
like home and provides them with a positive experience of family life or residential care.

York’s Pledge to Children and Young People in Care says:

� Good quality placements will be found for all children and young people that need them.

What we know about children and young people’s experience:

Nationally (Ofsted Children’s Care Monitor 2010)

� 94% of children felt safe where they live.
� 90% of children rated their care as good/very good, and foster care is rated most highly.

� 83% thought they were in the right placement for them.

Locally (CYC Pledge Consultation 2011)

� Children and young people said they should have information about their placement and a
chance to visit before they go.

� They want good foster families, where they are treated as one of the family and included
in everything the family does.

What we have done so far:

� Increased the number of foster homes to an all-time high. There are currently 25% more
than there were two years ago.

� Independent arrangements are in place for dealing with allegations against our staff,
including foster carers, using the Local Authority Designated Officer. 

� Increased the number of children and young people who can be cared for locally in foster
placements.

� Created a successful Staying Put scheme, which makes it possible for young people to
remain with their foster family beyond the age of 18.

� Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) has a looked after children team,
which supports foster carers and residential staff with advice on behaviour management,
contributes to the training of new and established foster carers, and provides advice to
social workers on the needs of children and young people.

What we are going to do next:

� Produce an easy-to-share information sheet about each foster family and Wenlock Terrace
to give to children and young people before they are placed, and offer an introductory visit
wherever possible.

11

Page 17



12

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

3. Relationships

Children and young people are supported to maintain, build and sustain positive relationships
with others, including their birth families, siblings in care, carers and their peers.

York’s Pledge to Children and Young People in Care says:

� We will help you to keep in contact with family and friends wherever possible.

� Ask children to tell us about their experiences of
their foster/residential placement after they have
left it, so that we can use this information to
improve the service.

� Develop a robust system for setting up reviews at
short notice in situations where a child or young
person faces an unexpected placement move, or
decides to leave care in an unplanned way.

Who I live with is

really nice and 
she

doesn’t have m
any

rules.  All the ru
les

she has is:

•  Go to bed at 

right time

•  And behave.

What we know about children and young people’s experience:

Nationally (Ofsted Children’s Care Monitor 2010)

� 74% of children and young people are separated from their siblings when they become
looked after; 49% of these think it was wrong to separate them; 37% think it was the right
thing to do.

� 55% think siblings should always be placed together.
� 89% of those placed with siblings think this is the right thing for them.

Locally (CYC Pledge Consultation 2011)

� Children and young people said they worry about their family, especially what has
happened to their siblings when they come into care, and aren’t given enough information.

� They wanted help and support to maintain their relationships with family and friends while
in care, especially when they change placement.

� They wanted contact arrangements to be made promptly, and to be explained to them
properly.

Ofsed - ‘100 day
s of care’ 2011

Page 18



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

� They were clear what they want from their relationship with their social worker, but said
they don’t always get this as their experience is very variable.

� They wanted foster carers who are honest with them and act like “real parents”, including
taking them out more.

What we have done so far:

� Provided opportunities for children and young people to get together e.g. the Show Me
That I Matter Group, but we need to do more of this.

� The CAMHS Looked After Children service has established a fortnightly drop in club for
Looked After Children to support the development of friendship and peer support.

� The Altogether Active scheme provides challenging physical activities for young people in
the Summer holidays.

� The Children’s Rights service is carrying out a consultation with the I Matter 2 Group
(younger children) about what makes a good social worker.

What we are going to do next:

� Actively respond to the concerns of children and young people about their contact with
their siblings, family and friends.

� Develop and promote more widely the existing groups and resources available for Looked
After Children and Young People, including the Facebook page and the website.

� Obtain views and feedback from
children and young
people about their
experiences of social
workers and foster
carers, and ensure that
these are communicated
to social workers and
foster carers to improve
their practice.

13

I had a visit from
 my

mum, brother and

nana but dad

normally comes

around but he’s

gone to Scotlan
d to

watch football.

My visit was good
.

Had a lot of lau
ghs

and I got a new
 dvd

“The social Net
work”

which I’ll watch
 later.  

Visits are good 
but

its horrible that
 we

only get 2 hour
s.

Ofsed - ‘100 day
s of care’ 2011

Page 19



14

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

What we know about children and young people’s experience:

The views of children and young people about their sense of identity and their understanding
of their heritage when in care have been little researched, either nationally or locally.

Locally (CYC Pledge Consultation 2011)

� Children and young people said they do not want to be treated differently or made to
stand out, especially at school.

� They also said they want to be treated as equals and as individuals, not as a group of
“Looked After Children”.

What we have done so far:

� We have skilled staff who create Life Story Books for children and young people who are
to be adopted, but do not at present do this for other children and young people.

What we are going to do next:

� Provide all children and young people with information, photographs and a treasure box to
support their understanding of their birth family and to record their life experiences while
in care.

� Make sure that children and young people are not made
to feel different because of their looked after status, e.g.
in the provision of transport, or access to leisure and
cultural opportunities.

� Ensure that the carers of Looked After Children and
Young People with disabilities, or other additional needs,
receive appropriate information and training so that they
can meet the children/young people’s identity and
emotional needs effectively.

� Commission local research to enable us to understand
and address the identity issues which may affect all
Looked After Children and Young People.

4. Identity

Children and young people know who they are, why they are looked after and understand
their heritage. They feel valued by others, and their individual needs arising from race, culture,
religion, sexual orientation or disability are understood and met.

York’s Pledge to Children and Young People in Care says:

� We will respect difference and support you as an individual.

Today me and my

team mates are

playing wheelc
hair

football in Birm
ingham

for the regional
 league.

Mom not feeling ver
y

well so dad tak
ing me.

We have got 3 ga
mes.

I love playing

powerchair foo
tball, I

feel free and no
rmal.

Ofsed - ‘100 day
s of care’ 2011

Page 20



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

5. Education

Children and young people receive a planned and stable education which enables them to
fulfil their educational, social and emotional potential, and to have high aspirations for their
future.

York’s Pledge to Children and Young People in Care says:

� We will support and encourage you with your learning, education and training.

� We will support any interests you may have and encourage you to take part in any
activities that would be good for you.

What we know about children and young people’s experience:

Nationally (Ofsted Children’s Care Monitor 2010)

� 87% of children and young people rated the education they received as good/very good.
� 78% said they are doing well at school.
� 54% thought the last change of school when they changed placement was in their best
interests.

Locally (CYC Pledge Consultation 2011)

� Children and young people said they want teachers to know enough about them to
understand their situation, but not to be singled out and made to feel different in front of
their peers.

� They want a good education, and to be supported in this by their carers and schools.

Research by York trainee educational psychologist into how Personal
Education Plans (PEPs) are perceived by children aged 8-14 (July 2011)

� In general, children thought the PEPs were worthwhile and purposeful, and resulted in
additional support when needed.

� They did not always like the PEP meetings, feeling they had little control over the process
and lacked clarity of explanation. They wanted more privacy and the presence of
supportive adults.

What we have done so far:

� All children and young people have Personal Education Plans, though these are not always
initiated or reviewed in a timely manner.

� We have established a virtual school for Looked After Children, with a ‘live’ virtual school
roll which enables the virtual head to track young people and keep in contact with carers
and social workers on any single day. 

� Attainment is tracked across key stages, and intervention by the virtual head is
proportionate to individual need, and supports schools to make effective provision
according to changing needs. 

15

Page 21



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

� All schools have trained designated teachers for Looked After Children who can also
access the virtual school information about their children. Schools’ performance in relation
to their Looked After Children is monitored and evaluated, both internally and externally.

� Children and young people have priority access to extended school activities and holiday
clubs, and there is effective liaison between schools and other providers of services, such
as independent visitors.

� Alternative and highly personalised provision is matched to individual pupil needs within
the Danesgate Community, ensuring that those young people not in mainstream provision
have access to relevant courses that lead to accreditation. Outcomes show a rising trend
of 5 A*-C equivalents.

� The attendance of our Looked After Children and Young People is better and improving at
a faster rate than peers in primary schools, despite an increasing number of Looked After
Children. Attendance in secondary schools is in line with peer group.

� Collaborative interagency partnerships have succeeded in reducing the number of fixed-
term exclusions of children and young people who are looked after, and there have been
no permanent exclusions since 2008.

What we are going to do next:

� Raise the attainment of Looked After Children and Young People, and support this by
ensuring that all PEPs are completed in a timely manner and by auditing the quality of PEPs.

� Build on the research into children and young people’s experience of the PEP process by
working with reviewing officers, schools and carers in a multi-agency group to improve the
process and make it more meaningful for children and young people and their carers.

� Introduce a post-16 PEP, which will ensure that the education and training needs of young
people are fully met.

� Embed the Moving School Protocols so that the head of the virtual school is involved in
securing the most appropriate education for the child/young person. Ensure there is
consultation with all parties, including the child/young person, and that any move is
endorsed by a review.

� Create a coherent strategy to meet the educational and developmental needs of children
aged 0-5 through high quality provision, and ensure their successful transfer to full time
education, and the virtual school, at age 5.

� Provide specific training for designated teachers to enable them to
respond to the needs of children who are looked after, including the
effects of trauma and attachment difficulties.

� Encourage young people and care leavers to take advantage of the
Northern England Care Leaver Activities and Student Support
(NorthCLASS) to access support to higher education.

� Consistently support and celebrate the educational and personal
success of our children and young people.

College 9 – 4 to
day,

double IT and D
ouble

Enterprise.  I lik
e

Fridays at colle
ge.  IT is

good for me, it is what

I want to do wh
en (if) I

can get a job.

Ofsed - ‘100 day
s of care’ 2011

Page 22



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

17

6. Health

The health needs of children and young people are assessed and planned for, and they have
appropriate access to all the health services they require. They are well and happy, and
choosing healthy and active lifestyles.

York’s Pledge to Children and Young People in Care says:

� We will support you to lead a healthy and happy life.

What we know about children and young people’s experience:

Nationally (Ofsted Children’s Care Monitor 2010)

� The survey did not ask specific questions about health, but children and young people said
that the greatest threats to their safety and welfare were drugs (25% of respondents) and
alcohol (17%). Smoking was mentioned by 5%.

Locally (Looked After Young People - Health Care Needs Research 2007)

� Young people agreed that they sometimes have particular health needs, and were not
opposed in principle to health assessments.

� They wanted to keep their own GP after coming into care, and wanted their health
information to be kept private at reviews.

� They wanted more information and more choice about where and how health
assessments were done.

Locally (CYC Pledge Consultation 2011)

� No specific issues relating to physical health care provision were mentioned by children
and young people.

We also know that some young people are choosing not to take part in the health
assessments they are entitled to, and we need to know more about the reasons for this.

What we have done so far:

� Put in place an effective system for health assessments of children and young people when
they become looked after, so that their health needs can be addressed promptly. Action is
being taken to ensure that this is effectively re-commissioned as health services are re-
structured.

� Health commissioners have carried out research into children and young people’s
experiences of initial health assessments, but the results were affected by a low response
rate, and more feedback is planned.

� Through the Cultural Offer to Looked After Children and Care Leavers, we prioritise and
support access for Looked After Children and Young People to council-run sport and 
leisure activities.

Page 23



18

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

What we are going to do next:

� Appoint a designated Looked After Children’s nurse to work with a wide range of
professionals and agencies to ensure that Looked After Children and Young People receive
appropriate health services.

� Develop and commission an integrated service for holistic initial and review health
assessments for children and young people ages 0-18, through the planned Initial and
Review Health Assessment projects, due to start in Autumn 2011.

� These services will be provided in accordance with the You’re Welcome initiative, which
aims to make health provision more accessible and user friendly, and Looked After Children
and Young People will be involved in their design.

� Find out why some young people don’t wish to take part in health assessments, and how
the delivery of the service could be improved for them.

� Put in place better arrangements for the provision of health care to young people and care
leavers who are no longer at school, and offer them
choices in how they
access health care 
and information.

� Ensure that the
timeliness and quality of
health assessments is
monitored and the results
used to continuously
improve the service.

I had a great ev
ening

me and Liz did th
e

diversity dance

workout. 

It’s really hard b
ut it’s

amazing.

We’ve been doin
g it

for a week now
 and

we seem to be doing

great. 

It’s great to hav
e the

sense of

achievement.

Ofsed - ‘100 day
s of care’ 2011

Page 24



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

What we are going to do next:

� Find out more about the impact on children and young people’s emotional wellbeing of
different CAMHS interventions, and use this to improve the service.

� Involve the CAMHS service more
effectively when there are
placement difficulties, so that
placement moves due to
behavioural issues are avoided as
far as possible.

� Find out more about the emotional
health of children and young people,
to assess the effectiveness of
services and inform service planning.

� Develop ways of providing effective
emotional and mental health support
to care leavers aged 18 and above.

19

7. Emotional Wellbeing

Children and young people have any need for additional emotional support recognised and
addressed, and have the knowledge and skills to achieve emotional stability, resilience and
self-confidence.

York’s Pledge to Children and Young People in Care says:

� We will support you to lead a healthy and happy life.

What we know about children and young people’s experience:

Locally (CYC Pledge Consultation 2011)

� The need for emotional support from a variety of sources was frequently mentioned,
including the option to be supported by someone “separate from social work”.

� Young people and care leavers identified their need for ongoing care and emotional
support.

What we have done so far:

� The multi-agency Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) Looked After
Children team provides children and young people with direct access to their service at the
request of their social worker. Specialist interventions can be provided on completion of
assessments.

� We have implemented the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) for all children
and young people.

The sad thing a
bout

being in care is

when it comes up to

‘mothers day’ or

‘fathers day’ bu
t if

you see them then

that isn’t as bad
 but

even if you don
’t

you can get you
r

foster carers

something as they

are like your m
um

and dad.

Ofsed - ‘100 day
s of care’ 2011

Page 25



20

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

8. Moving to Adulthood

Children and young people enter adulthood in a planned way, with a home to live in, the
skills to look after themselves and the ability to earn a living or continue in education. They
feel confident about the future.

York’s Pledge to Children and Young People in Care says:

� To help with your move into adulthood we will support you with training, housing,
managing your money, and will make sure that you have someone to talk to about the
things that are important to you.

What we know about children and young people’s experience:

Nationally (Ofsted Children’s Care Monitor 2010)

� 86% of young people soon to leave care said they were getting help to prepare for
independence; 15% said they were getting no help.

� 60% rated the support they were getting as good or very good; 16% said it was bad or 
very bad.

� 70% of care leavers rated their accommodation as good or very good; 16% said theirs was
bad or very bad.

� 58% of care leavers said they had Pathway plans.

Nationally (Evaluation of the Right 2B Cared 4 Pilots Final Report 2011)

� A slightly higher percentage of those in the pilot authorities felt that they had had a choice
about when they left compared to those from comparator authorities, 62% and 52%
respectively.

What we have done so far:

� Set up a successful Staying Put programme, which means that the majority of young people
remain with their carers beyond 18 and receive ongoing long term support from them.

� Taster and trainer flats are available for care leavers who wish to try independent living,
though access to other types of supported accommodation is still limited.

� Young people can have a second chance to return to being looked after if leaving care does
not work out for them.

� Established joint working with Youth Education Workers, Altogether Better and other
agencies to run sessions for care leavers around budgeting, healthy lifestyles, etc.

� Effective use of Setting Up Home grants has delivered greater flexibility in meeting young
people’s changing needs.

� Developed a further education protocol to improve transitions from school to college.

Page 26



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

21

What we are going to do next:

� Create more supported accommodation options, including some which can take young
people with complex needs, including in emergencies.

� Ensure the sustainability of the Staying Put scheme by recruiting enough foster carers to
replace those whose young people stay put.

� Develop a more consistent approach to preparing young people for independent living by
creating a programme that builds up their skills and can be used in a variety of settings.

� Adopt a more structured approach to the identification of young people’s skills and learning
needs when they are moving to independent living, and include this in the planning process.

� Use the new provision at Howe Hill to build on and develop existing links with colleagues
in housing, education and the voluntary sector, to increase the education, training and
employment options available to care leavers.

� Further develop the opportunities for care leavers to access training and employment
within the council, e.g. “employment with training”, and ensure that HR processes are
supporting the access of care leavers to jobs and apprenticeships.

� Clarify the process by which over 21s can access Pathway support when eligible.
� Put in place better arrangements for the provision of health care to young people and care
leavers who are no longer at school, and offer them choices in how they access health care
and information.

� Ensure there is easy access to mental health and counselling services for care leavers and
young adults up to the age of 25.

� The Pathway Team will put in place a system of exit interviews for care leavers
approaching 21 years, and use this information to improve the service.

� Jointly with other agencies, create more accessible social, leisure, sport and cultural
opportunities for care leavers, to equip them to enjoy living independently.

� Established some Starting Blocks work placements, although there is still more to do on this.

� City of York Council has established 36 apprenticeships, for which care leavers will have
priority consideration.

� We give support to young people in training or with low wages, to provide an incentive for
them to continue.

� The CAMHS Looked After Children service runs a monthly drop in club for care leavers to
enable them to access support with their emotional wellbeing.

� We have a care leaver in a Young Person’s Participation apprenticeship in the Pathway
team, working on encouraging care leavers to participate in social and leisure activities, and
to contribute to service development and planning.

Page 27



22

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

� Improve the process of carrying out Pathway assessments, planning and reviews so that
young people understand, are involved in and value these activities.

� Develop the work which has
started with the group
of foster carers who
look after teenagers, so
that they become our
partners in monitoring,
developing and
reviewing the service. 

I see my former

foster carer more as

a friend than

someone who is a

parental or gua
rdian

figure. 

I would say she

agrees with tha
t. 

We’ve kept in tou
ch

since I moved into

my own place 2–
3

years ago; I pre
fer

to keep in touc
h

with, like a frien
d,

than I do my

pathway worke
r.

Ofsed - ‘100 day
s of care’ 2011

Page 28



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

23

9. Corporate Parenting 

City of York Council and its partners recognise and act upon their responsibilities to children
and young people, particularly in relation to access to leisure and cultural activities, housing,
work experience and employment opportunities. They act towards Looked After Children and
young people as good parents would in any family.

York’s Pledge to Children and Young People in Care says:

� The York Pledge is a promise by the council and its partners, which describes the quality
and nature of care that any child can expect if they become looked after.

What we know about children and young people’s experience:

Locally (CYC Pledge Consultation 2011)

� Children and young people enjoyed the experience of being consulted and taking part in
an activity which they felt would make the council listen to them.

What we have done so far:

� Established regular elected member involvement with the Show Me That I Matter Group of
Looked After Children and Young People, though Ofsted (Safeguarding Peer Review 2011)
has told us that “more elected members should actively demonstrate their commitment to
the corporate parenting agenda...”.

� Made a pledge to York’s children and young people about how we will look after them, and
presented it to relevant groups for information.

What we are going to do next:

� Ensure that the rights and particular needs of Looked After Children and Young People are
fully represented in the forthcoming review of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for
health and social care, and become embedded in the work of the future Health and
Wellbeing Board and Children’s Commissioning Group.

� Set up a Corporate Parenting Board which effectively involves
a wide range of elected members in corporate parenting
responsibilities.

� Equip the Corporate Parenting Board with the information,
knowledge and skills to hold the rest of the council and its
partners to account for the wellbeing of Looked After Children
and Young People.

� Ensure that access to employment training and leisure
activities provided by the council is prioritised for children in
care and care leavers, and that this is enshrined in all its
policies and procedures. 

‘If you have a

problem, your words

get listened to 
more

than when you
 are

with your paren
ts.’

Ofsed - ‘Having 
corporate paren

ts’ 2011

Page 29



24

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

A detailed annual action plan has been agreed across all agencies to support delivery of the
priorities set out in this strategy.

The action plan addresses the nine priority areas, identifying a key lead and timeframe for
the completion of each action.

This action plan specifies a planned outcome from each action described and identifies a
related performance measure either drawn from the existing suite of performance indicators
collected or newly created to monitor the progress of a specific action.

The new performance measures will be agreed with the Show Me That I Matter Panel
and the I Matter Too Group.  They will include at least two surveys annually to capture the
views of the widest possible group of Looked After Children across the city and in out of city
placements.

Progress against this action plan will be monitored quarterly by the Strategic Partnership for
Looked After Children. The Chair of the partnership will, in turn, provide a regular briefing to
the Children’s Trust Board (YorOK).

The Corporate Parenting Board will meet regularly with the Show Me That I Matter
Panel and the I Matter Too group to discuss the action plan and to identify any gaps in
progress.

A schedule for the monitoring and review of the action plan to support the delivery of this
strategy will be agreed with the Corporate Parenting Board on an annual basis.

The overall strategy will be reviewed in September 2014.

(Aims and expectations of the ‘Show Me That I Matter’ panel are in Annex 2 and The role of ‘I
Matter 2’ can be found at Annex 3).

Delivering, Monitoring and
Reviewing Our Action Plan

Page 30



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

25

Annex 1 shows where the Strategic Partnership for Looked after Children
and the new Corporate Parenting Board are located within the emerging
overall strategic framework following the creation of the Health and
Wellbeing Board.

Annex 1 – Planning arrangements

Corporate 
Parenting 

Board

Public
Health

Observatory

Other
Strategic

Partnerships
eg Economic,
Safer York

York
Education

PartnershipYork
Health &
Wellbeing

Board

York
Healthwatch

Safeguarding
Boards

NHS
Commissioning

BoardHealthwatch
England

Public Health
England

Local Strategic 
Partnership

City of York Council

Health 
Overview 

and 
Scrutiny

Cabinet

Vale of York
Clinical

Commissioning
Group

Adult
Commissioning

Group

Children’s
Commissioning

Group

Other
partnerships
eg Older People,
Mental Heath, 
Valuing People,

DAAT etc.

LAC Strategic
Partnership
(and other 

partnerships, eg
CAMHS, NEET)Directly Accountability

Two-way relationship

Key:

Page 31



Show Me That I Matter
Aims
The aim of Show Me that I Matter is to make things better for young people and children
who are in care by listening to our views and taking action.  In this way it is hoped that the
service we receive will be improved and that young people, managers and City of York
Councillors may all be involved together in working towards providing the best care possible.

Expectations of those participating

� We will turn off our phones 

� All participants will be punctual
� The same rules will be observed by everyone

� We will be courteous towards each other and with invited guests

� Breaks may be taken as needed if people are feeling under stress

� Everyone should have an equal chance to talk
� Discussion will be non-judgemental

� We will respect each others views

� Everyone will take turns to chair the meeting if possible

� We will respect the authority of the chairperson

� Membership will be reviewed after two years

� The group is for people who are, or have recently been, in care
� People who are not care experienced may only attend by invitation of the group

� Confidentiality will be respected
� Two elected council members will attend each meeting (using substitutes if they are
unable to attend)

� The guidelines will be reviewed regularly
� Panel members will receive £15 per month in recognition of their time and commitment

Annex 2  

26

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015Page 32



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

27

What is it?
I Matter 2 – We are a group of young people in care, aged between 11–14 years.

We meet on a monthly basis to talk about our experience of being looked after by
the City of York Council and how we think things can be improved.

Our views are then shared with York’s Children in Care Council (the Show Me
That I Matter panel) who are able to raise these issues with senior managers

and elected members.

Annex 3 

Matter
2

Page 33



28

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

1. Good quality placements will be found for all children and young people
that need them.

What this means:

� The right foster family will be found for you based on the care you need. 

� If a placement in a residential home or school would be better for you, then it will be
as much like a family home as possible.

� Whenever possible, moving to a new placement will be planned with you and you will
get the chance to visit and meet your carers before you move.  If this can’t happen
then you will be told where you will be living and who will be caring for you before
you actually move.    

� Your placement will be close to your school, family and friends, wherever possible.

� Your placement will feel like a family home and you will be able to agree with your
carers important things such as your friends being able to visit, having a set pocket
money allowance and being allowed overnight stays. 

� Your carers will help you to keep safe the things that are important to you, such as
photographs and personal belongings, as we understand that these can be really
important when looking back at your childhood.

� We will do our best to keep you placed with your brothers and sisters unless it’s not
safe to do so.  If you can’t live together, we will do our best to try to keep you close by
to each other.

� You will only have to move placements if this is absolutely necessary.  If you need to
move from your carers for a short time to give you or your carers a break then,
whenever possible, this will be planned with another carer you know.

� We will listen to you if you are unhappy with your placement and do everything we
can to make things better for you.  If we can’t sort things out and you are still unhappy,
we will find you another placement.  

� If you need taxis to get to school or contact with family, we will make sure that they
arrive on time and that the drivers are friendly.   However, wherever possible you will
be helped to travel independently or with your carers.   

Annex 4 – The Pledge for Looked
After Children (long version) 

Page 34



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

29

2. We will help you to keep in contact with family and friends wherever
possible.

What this means:

� We will make sure that you can stay in touch and regularly see your family and friends,
as long as it is safe to do so. 

� You will know when, where and how often contact will take place.
� We know that contact with brothers and sisters is really important and will listen to
you about how this should happen. 

3. You will have your own social worker who is reliable, trustworthy and
who will listen and treat you with respect.  

What this means:

� We will make sure that your social worker sees you regularly, that they are reliable
and that they will take you out or speak to you alone when they see you.   We will not
change your worker unless it’s absolutely necessary.

� You will know how to get in touch with your social worker or another member of their
team if they are not at work.  You will have a mobile number for your social worker
and if you leave a message they will get back to you as soon as possible.  

� Your social worker will talk to you about why you are in care and will let you know
what is happening throughout your time in care.  You will have your chance to say
what you think whenever any decisions are being made about you.

� If you don’t get on with your social worker and ask for another one, we will listen and take
you seriously.  If it isn’t possible to change your social worker we will explain to you why.  

� Your social worker will support you throughout your time in care and they will act
upon your wishes and feelings wherever possible.  

4. We will support and encourage you with your learning, education and
training.  

What this means:

� Wherever possible, you will stay at the same school you were attending. 

� You will not be made to feel different from your friends and your school will have all your
information but they will keep it confidential. This will be part of your Personal Education
Plan, which will be looked at regularly to make sure you are getting the right support. 

� We understand that at times, when things have been unsettled, you may find it
difficult to concentrate at school.  You will be able to get support from a designated
teacher or pupil support worker if you want this.

Page 35



30

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

� You will have a say in how to spend any money that is there to support you with your
learning (e.g. Personal Education Allowance).  

� Opportunities for work experience will be available within the council, or we will try to
set these up with another employer if you would prefer.

� If you apply for a job within the council, and meet the essential criteria, you will be
guaranteed an interview.

5. We will respect difference and support you as an individual.

What this means:

� Everyone has different needs because of age, ethnic origin, religion, gender, sexual
orientation or any disabilities we may have.  We will recognise and respect those
differences and treat you as an individual.

� You will always be treated as an individual and not as a group of children and 
young people. 

6. We will arrange your child care reviews in a way that best suits you and
covers the things that are important to you.

What this means:

� You will be encouraged to come to your meetings and you will get a say in where the
meeting is held, how it is run, who attends and what is talked about.  You can chair
your own meeting alongside your independent reviewing officer if you would like to
do so. 

� We will do our best to make sure that you are included as an equal in the meetings
and that you feel comfortable and supported enough to have your say.  You can ask
for someone to come to the meeting with you to support you or talk on your behalf if
you would prefer.  An independent advocate can do this.

� Meetings will be held in a way that makes you feel comfortable, able to say what you
want and understand all the things that are talked about.  The meetings will not just focus
on the things that have been difficult but also on the things that have gone well for you.  

� You will be able to speak to someone before the meeting to discuss these things,
either your social worker, independent reviewing officer or an independent advocate.

7. You will be made aware of your rights, choices and the things you are
entitled to, including your right to complain if you are unhappy. 

What this means:

� You will be able to have your say when any decisions are being made about you and
about the services you receive.

Page 36



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

31

� You can contact the Rights and Advocacy Service if you want more information about
your rights whilst in care, or if you want someone to help you to speak up or complain
if you are unhappy about something.

8. We will support you to lead a healthy and happy life.  

What this means:

� You will be registered with a local G.P., dentist and optician to make sure that you 
are healthy.

� If you want help in coping with any difficult feelings or memories that you may have,
we can arrange for you to talk to someone about this (a specialist CAMHS worker).

� We will make sure that you have all the advice and support that you need to lead a
healthy and happy life, whether that be about fitness, healthy eating, or information
about sexual health or alcohol and drug misuse.

9. We will support any interests you may have and encourage you to take
part in any activities that would be good for you.  

What this means:

� We will help you to continue with any hobbies you enjoy and support any talents you
may have.  We promise to celebrate and acknowledge achievements you make on the
way.

� We will encourage you to take part in social and cultural activities or groups that may
help you feel more confident and good about yourself and will help you make new
friends.

� You will be able to use the City of York Council’s leisure services free of charge.
� We will help you to learn to drive when, and if, you want to.

� You will be able to use a computer and internet services in your placement to help
you with your learning. 

10. To help with your move into adulthood we will support you with training,
housing, managing your money, and will make sure that you have
someone to talk to about the things that are important to you.  

What this means:

� With you, we will put together your pathway plan to make sure you are clear about
the support you will get with training, housing, finance and emotional support when it
is time for you to leave care.  

� You will be given support in deciding what housing option would be right for you, such
as taster flats, staying put choices or help to find independent accommodation. 

Page 37



32

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

� We will support and guide you in developing your independence skills if you need this.

� We will help to prepare you and support you emotionally with managing to live on
your own, we will ensure you always have someone to contact and know how to
access this support.

Page 38



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

33

Sources of information/references:   

About Education: A Children’s Views Report March 2007 www.rights4me.org.

A User Experience Survey of Initial Health Assessments for Looked After
Children in York, September 2011.

Care Matters: Children’s Views on the Governments Green Paper Feb 2007
www.rights4me.org. 

Care and Prejudice: A Report of Children’s Experience by the Children’s Rights Director
for England 2009 www.rights4me.org

Care Matters: Time for Change, The White Paper, June 2007.
www.dcsf.gov.uk/publications/timeforchange/

CYC 2007: Looked After Young People: Health Care Needs, Research Report. Pathway
Team, LCCS and the Market Research Team.

CYC Pledge research report 2010: Show Me That I Matter (York’s Children in Care
Council) and the Young People’s Pledge Group and Nikki Wilson (Children’s Rights Officer)
and the Rights and Advocacy Service and Carol-Ann Hooper and Robert Gunn, Department
of Social Policy & Social Work, University of York.

DCSF Gifted and Talented Education and Guidance on preventing
underachievement: a focus on children and young people in care DCSF 00873-2007BKT-
EN 2007. www.teachernet.gov.uk publications.

DCSF. Children looked after in England (including adoptions and care leavers), year ending
31 March 2008. DCSF, 2008, http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/s000810/
sfr23-2008textv1.pdf 

DCSF. Outcome indicators for looked after children: twelve months to 30
September 2009 England. DCSF, 2009,
http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/rsgateway/DB/SFR/s000878/SFR25-2009.pdf

DCFS Guidance on Looked After Children with SEN placed out of authority 2009
www.teachernet.gov.uk/publications

DCSF Improving Educational Attainment of Children in Care (Looked After Children) 2009
www.teachernet.gov.uk/publications

DfES. Care matters: transforming the lives of children and young people in care. DfES,
2006, http://www.dfes.gov.uk/consultations/downloadableDocs/6731-DfES-Care
%20Matters.pdf 

Department of Health. "Children looked after in England: 2001/2002". Website 
www.doh.gov.uk accessed 7 February 2003 

Annex 5 - References

Page 39



34

Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

Evaluation of the Right 2B Cared 4 Pilots: Final report - Emily R. Munro*, Clare
Lushey*, Harriet Ward* and National Care Advisory Service *Centre for Child and Family
Research, Loughborough University, May 2011.

Every Child Matters website,
http://www.everychildmatters.gov.uk/socialcare/childrenincare/ 

Improving the attainment of LAC in primary schools: Guidance for Schools DCSF
20.11.09 www.teachernet.gov.uk/publications

Improving the attainment of LAC in secondary schools: Guidance for Schools
DCSF 20.11.09 www.teachernet.gov.uk/publications

Looked After Children – good practice in schools Issued May 2008 Reference no. 070172
www.ofsted.gov.uk

National Statistics. Adoptions, outcomes and placements for children looked after by
local authorities: year ending 31 March 2009
http://wales.gov.uk/docs/statistics/2009/090826sdr1272009en.pdf?lang=en 

Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency. Children Order Statistical Bulletin.
2009. http://www.dhsspsni.gov.uk/children_order_statistical_bulletin_2008_final2.pdf 

Office of National Statistics; The mental health of young people looked after by local
authorities in England – summary report (Norwich, HMSO 2003)

Ofsted 2011, 100 days of care.  Diary entries of children and young people in care, in
residential education or receiving social care.  Reported by the Children’s Rights Director for
England.

Ofsted 2011, Before Care, A report of children’s views on entering care by the Children’s
Rights Director for England.

Ofsted 2011, Children on Independent Reviewing Officers, A report of children’s views by
the Children’s Rights Director for England.

Ofsted 2011, Children’s care monitor 2010. Children on the state of social care in England.
Reported by the Children’s Rights Director for England.

Ofsted 2011, ‘Having corporate parents’ 

Ofsted May 2008 Looked After Children – Good Practice in Schools www.ofsted.gov.uk

Ofsted 2011, Messages for Munro, A report of children’s views collected for Professor
Eileen Munro by the Children’s Rights Director for England.

Report on research into pupil’s perceptions of Personal Education Plans –
July 2011: Lucy Barrow, Trainee Educational Psychologist.

Scottish Government. Children looked after statistics 2007-08
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/248579/0071293.pdf 

Page 40



Looked After Children Strategy 2012 - 2015

35

Shaw, Catherine. Remember my messages. The experiences and views of 2000
children in public care in the UK . The Who Cares? Trust, n.d. 

Social Exclusion Unit. A better education for children in care: Social Exclusion
Unit report . ODPM, 2003

Social Exclusion Unit. Young runaways: report by the Social Exclusion Unit. 2002

Statutory Guidance on the duty on local authorities to promote the educational
achievement of looked after children under section 52 of the Children Act 2004 Issued
18.11.05

Supporting looked after learners: a practical guide for governors (DFES -1929-2005.
www.teachernet.gov.uk publications 

The Fostering Network. “Kinship care”,
http://www.fostering.net/resources/documents/ifco07_kinship_care.ppt

The Role and Responsibilities of the designated teacher for LAC: Statutory
Guidance for school Governing Bodies DCSF 20.11.09 www.teachernet.gov.uk/publications 

Times Educational Supplement, 5 June 2009, pp22-23, “Pupils in care: Balls wants no
more excuses”. http://www.tes.co.uk/article.aspx?storycode=6014863 

Who Cares? Trust. News Update, Summer 2008, January 2010 

Page 41



If you would like this information in
an accessible format (for example 
in large print, on CD or by email) 
or another language please
telephone: 01904 554212 
or email: eoin.rush@york.gov.uk
© City of York Council 2011. Designed by HBA, York. Printed by Wood Richardson Ltd, York.

Working together with Children, 
Young People and Families

Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



 

 

 
 
 
Inspection of safeguarding and 
looked after children services   
City of York Council 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Inspection dates: 19 to 30 March 2012 
Reporting inspector Mary Varley HMI 
 
 

Age group: All 
Published: 14 May 2012 
 

Page 65



 

© Crown copyright 2012 
 
Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk 
This document may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial purposes, provided 
that the information quoted is reproduced without adaptation and the source and date of 
publication are stated. 
 
Further copies of this report are obtainable from the local authority or at www.ofsted.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 66



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

1 

Contents 
About this inspection 2 

The inspection judgements and what they mean 2 

Service information 3 

Safeguarding services 5 

Overall effectiveness  5 
Capacity for improvement  5 

Safeguarding outcomes for children and young people 8 

Children and young people are safe and feel safe  8 
Quality of provision  9 
The contribution of health agencies to keeping children and young people 
safe    12 
 
Ambition and prioritisation   15 
Leadership and management   16 
Performance management and quality assurance 18 
Partnership working  20 

Services for looked after children 22 

Overall effectiveness  22 
Capacity for improvement  23 

How good are outcomes for looked after children and care leavers? 25 

Being healthy  25 
Staying safe  26 
Enjoying and achieving  28 
Making a positive contribution, including user engagement 29 
Economic well-being  30 
 
Quality of provision  31 
Ambition and prioritisation  33 
Leadership and management  34 
Performance management and quality assurance 36 

Record of main findings 38 

 
 
 

Page 67



City of York Council Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

2 

About this inspection 

1. The purpose of the inspection is to evaluate the contribution made by 
relevant services in the local area towards ensuring that children and 
young people are properly safeguarded and to determine the quality of 
service provision for looked after children and care leavers. The inspection 
team consisted of four of Her Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI) and one 
inspector from the Care Quality Commission. The inspection was carried 
out under the Children Act 2004. 

2. The evidence evaluated by inspectors included: 

§ discussions with more than 45 children and young people receiving 
services, 23 parents and carers, front-line staff and managers, senior 
officers including the Director of Children’s Services and the Chair of 
the Local Safeguarding Children Board, elected members and a 
range of community representatives 

§ interviews and focus groups with front-line professionals, managers 
and senior staff from NHS North Yorkshire and York, York Teaching 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, Harrogate and District NHS 
Foundation Trust and Leeds and York Partnership Foundation Trust 

§ analysing and evaluating reports from a variety of sources including 
a review of the Children and Young People’s Plan, performance data, 
information from the inspection of local settings, such as schools and 
day care provision and the evaluations of serious case reviews 
undertaken by Ofsted in accordance with ‘Working Together To 
Safeguard Children’, 2010 

§ a review of over 90 case files, assessments or reports for children 
and young people with a range of need. This provided a view of 
services provided over time and the quality of reporting, recording 
and decision-making undertaken 

§ the outcomes of the most recent annual unannounced inspection of 
local authority contact, referral and assessment services undertaken 
on 16 and 17 November 2010. 

The inspection judgements and what they 
mean 
 
3. All inspection judgements are made using the following four point scale. 

Outstanding (Grade 1) A service that significantly exceeds minimum 
requirements 

Good (Grade 2) A service that exceeds minimum requirements 

Page 68



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

3 

Adequate (Grade 3) A service that only meets minimum requirements 

Inadequate (Grade 4) A service that does not meet minimum 
requirements 

Service information 

4. York is a distinctive city with an impressive history and heritage and a 
strongly performing economy. The city has successfully adapted from 
being a railway and confectionery manufacturing city into an international 
destination and hub for science and technology, and a national centre for 
financial and business services. Average incomes are just below the 
national average. The unemployment rate has risen since 2005, although 
it is lower than the national average. While 40% of York’s population live 
in areas that are in the least deprived 20% in England, 7% of York’s 
population live in areas classified as being in the 20% most deprived areas 
in the country. 

5. There are approximately 37,700 children and young people aged 0 to 18, 
which is 19% of the total population of the area. In 2012, 9% of the 
school population was classified as belonging to an ethnic group other 
than White British compared to 22.5% in England overall. Some 5% of 
pupils speak English as an additional language. Polish, Chinese and 
Turkish are the most recorded commonly spoken community languages.  

6. At the time of the inspection there were 250 looked after children. This 
comprises 61 children less than five years of age, 148 children of school 
age and 41 young people aged over 16. Some 164 children were the 
subject of a child protection plan, 41% of whom were aged five or 
younger.  

7. The YorOK Children’s Trust was set up as a national pathfinder in 2003. 
The trust includes representatives from the council, schools, health 
agencies, the police, voluntary and community sector, early years, further 
and higher education and other independent organisations.  

8. The City of York Safeguarding Children Board (CYSCB) was established 
and became independently chaired in 2006, bringing together the main 
organisations providing safeguarding services for children, young people 
and families in the area.  

9. Early years provision is delivered predominantly through the private and 
voluntary sector in over 84 settings including school nurseries, nurseries, 
playgroups, 208 childminders and 56 out-of-school clubs. The nine 
children’s centres are all based on school sites. There are 65 schools 
comprising 52 primary schools, 10 secondary schools, including two 
academies, two special schools and an all-age pupil referral unit which 
includes an outreach service and work-based learning provision. Post-16 
provision is made through five school sixth-forms, the secondary special 

Page 69



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

4 

school and two further education colleges. Looked after children’s 
education is overseen and coordinated through a virtual school system. 

10. Social care services for children and young people and their families are 
provided by six practice units as well as the children’s advice and 
assessment service, adoption and fostering teams, the pathway service for 
care leavers and the health and disability team. The North Yorkshire and 
York emergency duty team provide the out of hours services. There are 
126 local fostering households and two children’s homes, one of which 
provides short-break care. Other family support services are delivered 
through children’s centres and extended services in schools.  

11. The police service is provided by the North Yorkshire Police. Services to 
children and young people who are at risk of offending or who have 
offended are provided by the council’s multi-agency youth offending 
service.  

12. The planning and commissioning of health services and primary care are 
carried out by North Yorkshire and York Primary Care Trust (PCT). The 
main provider of acute hospital and community child health services is the 
York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. Emergency services for 
children are provided by York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, 
and for minor ailments, the GP practice or the walk-in centre. Community-
based and in-patient child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) 
are provided by Leeds and York Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. 
Maternity and newborn services along with universal health services, such 
as health visiting, school nursing and paediatric therapies are provided by 
York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. Children and families 
access primary care services through one of 21 GP practices and one 
walk-in centre. 

Page 70



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

5 

Safeguarding services 

Overall effectiveness          Grade 2 (good) 
 
13. The overall effectiveness of the council and its partners in safeguarding 

and protecting children in the City of York is good. Safeguarding 
requirements are met and often exceeded; no child was found to be at 
risk of significant harm during the inspection. Visible, child-centred and 
effective leadership by senior managers is sustaining and further 
improving already good outcomes. Almost all performance indicators are 
better than the averages for similar areas and nationally. The quality of 
strategic and operational partnership working is exceptional. The YorOK 
Children’s Trust and the City of York Safeguarding Children Board (CYSCB) 
work well together. An embedded culture of support and challenge is also 
reflected in excellent joint commissioning arrangements. The council has 
sustained its financial commitment to the most vulnerable children in 
challenging financial circumstances and resources are very well used to 
underpin this priority.  

14. Demonstrable improvements in the quality and range of provision have 
been secured in relation to early intervention with vulnerable children, 
including those whose emotional health and well-being gives cause for 
concern, and children experiencing domestic abuse. Good progress has 
been made in developing a workforce strategy and offering access to high 
quality training. However, the strategy does not as yet reflect the 
changing ethnicity of York’s communities. 

15. Children’s social care services have been effectively reorganised to 
improve continuity of social work support as children progress through the 
system. Front-line capacity within children’s social care has been 
strengthened and this has supported well an effective children’s advice 
and assessment service. Children at risk of serious harm are promptly 
identified and enquiries are thoroughly undertaken. The overall quality of 
assessments is good. Staff across all agencies receives good support.  

16. Child in need and child protection planning contributes to improved 
outcomes for children and young people but practice is not yet fully 
consistent. In particular, some written plans are underdeveloped. The 
records of multi-agency meetings to review plans do not always reflect 
discussions that have been held. Quality assurance, including the use of 
regular case audits within children’s social care, is effective.  

17. The council and its partners have a good understanding of any shortfalls 
in practice and in the vast majority of instances have implemented plans 
to address these. The council is aware that the quality of elected 
members’ engagement in the child protection agenda, including their 
involvement in scrutiny, is an area for development. Supervision within 
social care has been strengthened. However, in relation to safe 

Page 71



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

6 

recruitment risk assessments, in respect of a small number of local 
authority employees do not meet the standards contained in the council’s 
policy.  

Capacity for improvement             Grade 1 (outstanding) 
 
18. The capacity for improvement is outstanding. The good outcomes 

achieved in relation to performance against national indicators and 
planning for individual children, together with very high levels of critical 
self awareness across the partnership and a strong track record of 
improvement, result in an excellent capacity for further improvement.  

19. Children’s views are keenly sought and inform strategic planning and 
service development very well. Children, young people and their parents 
seen by inspectors, along with those completing the council’s surveys all 
felt safe and were highly appreciative of the collective efforts of all 
agencies to improve their lives.  

20. Over a number of years very ambitious leaders have created and 
sustained excellent partnerships at all levels so that there is a high degree 
of shared ownership of York’s vulnerable children. This is equally 
applicable to the YorOK Children’s Trust and the CYSCB. Consequently 
quality of provision is good and safeguarding judgements across inspected 
provision are all good or better.  

21. The council has an excellent track record of identifying areas for 
improvement and using the expertise of all partners to tackle these. There 
are numerous examples of the council and partners collectively committing 
the necessary resources to ensure and successfully sustain change with 
evidence that this has improved outcomes for children and young people. 
Thus numbers of young people not in education, employment or training 
are low and focused effort is improving engagement of young people with 
a learning disability. The relatively recent innovative children’s advice and 
assessment service has significantly increased the numbers of vulnerable 
children receiving support packages and has appropriately reduced 
referrals to children’s social care which has released capacity to undertake 
more in-depth assessments. This is a very significant contribution to 
ensuring that the safeguarding and protection needs of all children are 
recognised and responded to effectively. The CYSCB rigorously responded 
to the learning emerging from serious case reviews through an excellent 
thematic review of neglect which has identified crucial areas where local 
practice will be strengthened.  

22. Very robust action has been taken to respond to the findings from 
external inspection. The two areas for development arising from the last 
unannounced inspection of contact, referral and assessment have been 
addressed well. The council commissioned a peer review during 2011. All 
the findings from this have been turned into a detailed action plan and 

Page 72



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

7 

inspectors were able to identify that this work had produced further 
improvements in a range of areas. The council and partners are not in any 
way complacent and are fully aware of those areas in which further 
progress is needed, such as offering children and young people a stronger 
voice in child protection planning and increasing their involvement with 
the CYSCB.  

Areas for improvement 
 
23. In order to improve the quality of provision and services for safeguarding 

children and young people in the City of York, the local authority and its 
partners should take the following action. 

Immediately: 

§ review risk assessments for children’s services staff employed for 
longer than three years to ensure that these have been completed 
and are recorded on staff files 

§ ensure that social workers who are suitably qualified and 
experienced in child care work are consistently available to deal with 
emergencies arising out of hours and at weekends.  

Within three months: 

§ accelerate progress to ensure that all child in need and child 
protection plans consistently identify desired outcomes, clear actions 
and timescales together with the contingency arrangements in place 
should the desired outcomes not be achieved 

§ review scrutiny arrangements within the council to ensure that they 
include a clear and regular focus on safeguarding and child 
protection management and practice.  

Within six months: 

§ implement systems to ensure that outcomes for children subject to 
early intervention, child in need and child protection plans are 
collated and aggregated so that the factors which contribute to 
successful outcomes are known and fully understood.  

Page 73



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

8 

Safeguarding outcomes for children and young 
people 
 
Children and young people are safe and feel safe  

               Grade 2 (good) 
24. Safeguarding outcomes for children and young people are good. The 

council effectively meets its statutory responsibilities for the management 
and delivery of safeguarding services. Protecting children from harm or 
neglect and helping them to stay safe is judged as good or better in 
Ofsted inspections across all providers, including children’s centres, 
fostering, adoption and youth offending services.  

25. The very large majority of children and young people who completed the 
council’s ‘Stand up for Us’ survey in 2011 said that they felt safe at school. 
A similar proportion completing the latest ‘Tell Us’ survey also felt very or 
quite safe in their local area. Effective action is taken to monitor and deal 
with instances of bullying in York’s schools, including racist and cyber 
bullying. The ‘Stand up for Us’ survey indicates that once reported bullying 
stopped for almost all the children and young people who said they were 
bullied on a daily basis.  

26. Children and young people seen during the inspection were all very 
positive about the quality of help and support they received. They thought 
that staff across agencies listened carefully and that their views and 
feelings were considered well and made a difference when decisions were 
made. Children and young people have access to a well established 
statutory complaints procedure and all are offered an advocate to assist 
them in making representations. Complaints are suitably monitored and 
themes arising from complaints are identified to support improvements in 
practice.  

27. A good range of provision provides additional support for those children 
who are potentially vulnerable or at risk and those who are in danger of 
becoming disengaged from education. This includes a highly valued 
mentoring scheme which is particularly effective where children and young 
people are reluctant to engage with services. The Travellers education 
service has worked well to support young Travellers receiving elective 
home education and to support young people not in education, 
employment and training (NEET). Between 2005 and 2011 the overall 
proportion of 16 year olds that were NEET reduced from 80% to zero. 

28. Robust action by children’s social care to investigate risk of harm through 
timely assessment and case planning also ensures that children feel safe 
and are safe. Out of hours arrangements are provided through a shared 
service with North Yorkshire County Council and are satisfactory. 
Communication between day time services is appropriate and in cases 

Page 74



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

9 

seen during the inspection information was appropriately shared. 
However, social workers experienced in child protection are not always 
available to respond to emergencies and the service is currently being 
reviewed.  

29. Multi-agency arrangements to identify and meet the needs of children 
missing from home, education or care are good. The police rigorously 
investigate reports of missing children. Information is monitored to 
identify patterns and trends and known addresses where children may be 
harboured. Timely ‘safe and well’ visits are undertaken on their return and 
children’s needs are assessed to determine if additional support is 
required.  

30. Current processes to ensure that safe recruitment practices meet statutory 
requirements are satisfactory. Each personnel file reviewed during the 
inspection contained evidence of a police check on appointment. However, 
there was no evidence of completion of a risk assessment  in relation to 
one long-standing member of staff.  

31. The role and function of the local authority designated officer (LADO) in 
dealing with complaints made against staff working with children is well 
embedded and effective. Allegations are rigorously and swiftly followed up 
any learning points arising from these are incorporated into multi-agency 
training courses. The council effectively promotes the importance of 
prevention through safe recruitment and safe care training. 

Quality of provision            Grade 2 (good) 
32. The quality of provision is good. The Early Intervention Partnership is 

enabling strong strategic and operational cohesion. Each service 
understands what others have to offer and families and, as a result of 
clear protocols for information sharing and referral, individuals are quickly 
directed to the agencies that are most likely to be able to help them. The 
YorOK and the Family Information Service websites provide good quality 
information for workers, families and children.  

33. Individual early intervention programmes are monitored rigorously. Among 
the examples of successful practice seen is the strong collaboration 
between Catalyst (Family Intervention Project) and other agencies in 
supporting troubled families. Another is the use of the RONI (Risk of NEET 
Indicator) to ensure a shared focus on increasing the number of young 
people who progress to education, employment or training.  

34. Services work closely together to tackle potential problems that are 
common across the authority. Notable examples of such work include the 
recently developed ‘Minding the Baby’ and ‘Building Family Bridges’ 
programmes that are designed to support young fathers as well as 
mothers and to help separated couples to take a shared responsibility for 
the upbringing of their children. Another is the close collaboration between 

Page 75



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

10 

schools, the police and health services in tackling all forms of bullying. The 
impact of this is regularly reviewed through research conducted in 
association with York St John University.  

35. Multi-agency early support for vulnerable children, young people and their 
families is coordinated through the common assessment framework (CAF) 
process which is well understood. All agencies are actively engaged in 
initiating and overseeing the services provided. Most of the CAF 
assessments and plans reviewed during the inspection included 
appropriate analysis, identified relevant sources of support and had led to 
improved outcomes. However, parents’ and children’s views are not 
consistently recorded. Where concerns for children’s safety arose while 
they were receiving this support these were quickly referred to children’s 
social care. Parents who met with inspectors were very positive about the 
help that they had received and the improvements that had been made to 
their own and their children’s lives.  

36. Effective partnership working between key agencies has led to the 
development of the innovative advice and assessment service which 
responds to concerns about a child or young person, whatever their level 
of vulnerability or need and supports other agencies to initiate a CAF 
assessment if necessary. These activities are recorded using the electronic 
E-Trak system which builds a full picture of the preventative work 
undertaken with individual children and young people.  

37. The large majority of referrals to the children’s advice and assessment 
service are appropriate and timely. Staff across all agencies reported that 
as a result of readily available advice from the service they felt more 
confident to carry out their safeguarding responsibilities. All referrals at 
the boundary of early help and specialist social care involvement are 
reviewed in a daily meeting which includes representatives from social 
care, health, the police and the youth offending team. Multi-agency 
decision-making in those cases viewed during the inspection was based on 
a thorough appraisal of risks and was clearly recorded. The impact of this 
service has been a significant increase in the number of CAFs undertaken 
from 194 in 2009 to 500 at the end of 2011. Specialist resources have 
been more precisely targeted, leading appropriately to fewer referrals to 
children’s social care and fewer initial assessments. This has released 
resources to undertake more in-depth core assessments which increased 
from 147 to 224 during 2011-12. 

38. Effective management in the children’s advice and assessment teams 
ensures that social work assessments are allocated promptly. The majority 
of initial and core assessments seen during the inspection were of a good 
quality. Risks and protective factors were clearly identified and the views 
of staff from other agencies were effectively included. Children are 
routinely seen during assessments and their views are clearly evidenced 
but it is not always clear if reports are shared with children and their 

Page 76



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

11 

parents. Needs in relation to racial, cultural, religious and linguistic 
backgrounds are appropriately considered.  

39. Child protection enquiries are managed well. They are allocated promptly 
to qualified and experienced social workers. Strategy discussions always 
include the police and children’s social care and often benefit from wider 
agency involvement. Decisions reached during these meetings are 
appropriately recorded. Child protection enquiries are effectively 
undertaken with children routinely seen alone. Decision-making at the 
conclusion of enquiries is robust and where there is evidence of significant 
harm timely initial child protection conferences are held. 

40. Work with children in need, including those with disabilities, who are 
assessed as requiring further support is managed effectively by social 
workers or family support workers who are supervised by experienced 
practice managers. Children are regularly seen and direct work is 
undertaken according to need. Other agencies are actively involved in 
visiting families and provide a good range of support. Information is 
appropriately shared on a day to day basis and, in most instances, 
through ‘child in need’ meetings.  

41. Multi-agency child protection planning is effective. Information sharing at 
well attended initial and review child protection conferences is robust. 
Reports and assessments prepared for these meetings are of sound 
quality. Parents receive good support to participate and their views are 
clearly understood and recorded. However, the voice of the child or young 
person is not always clearly reflected and this is recognised as an area for 
improvement. All agencies are actively engaged in implementing child 
protection plans and most plans progress well through regularly held and 
well attended core groups. Outcomes for children improve as a result of 
this work. Child protection planning is appropriately overseen by 
experienced independent reviewing officers (IROs) who are able to 
demonstrate that plans are not discontinued until risks have been suitably 
reduced. Conference decisions are distributed to partner agencies within 
one working day. However, there are delays in distributing the full records 
and this has been suitably tackled through the recruitment of an additional 
IRO. 

42. The quality of recording is adequate or better. A small proportion is not 
produced in a timely manner and some delays in the recording of 
completed work in the children’s social care teams are due to competing 
work pressures. Summaries of work with children in need are not available 
on all children’s case records. Outline written protection plans are 
routinely agreed at initial child protection conferences. However, these are 
not consistently translated into outcome focused plans that identify clearly 
the required actions, timescales and contingency arrangements should the 
plan not be successful. Progress against plans is regularly reviewed at core 
group meetings but this activity is not consistently reflected in the 

Page 77



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

12 

recording and this means that the child’s record contains limited 
information about the impact the plan is having on reducing risk. 

43. Management oversight is evident on most case files and decisions made in 
supervision are regularly recorded on children’s files. In some instances 
the basis on which the decision has been made is not recorded. When 
children are subject to court proceedings, reports are of a good standard 
and written care plans are comprehensive. 

44. Case transfer arrangements within children’s social care are known and 
well understood. Outcomes of assessment are promptly passed through to 
the longer-term teams to ensure that children continue to receive an 
appropriate level of service to meet their identified need.  

 
The contribution of health agencies to keeping children and 
young people safe                                           Grade 2 (good) 
45. The contribution of health agencies is good. Health partners demonstrate 

compliance with statutory guidance. Robust safeguarding and child 
protection policies and procedures are in place in commissioning and 
provider trusts. Health staff at all levels seen during the inspection 
demonstrated a clear understanding of their safeguarding and child 
protection responsibilities.  

46. All staff have received basic child protection training. Rolling programmes 
of higher levels of child protection training are in place and are suitably 
monitored by the safeguarding children teams. All staff have access to 
individual child protection supervision. Community and key groups of staff 
in acute services, such as those working in the emergency and midwifery 
departments, receive formal reflective group supervision, which staff 
reported as working very well. This system is being introduced for the 
remainder of acute hospital staff whose work brings them into contact 
with children and young people. 

47. Advice and support provided to health staff, including primary care, from 
designated and named professionals in both commissioning and provider 
trusts is strong and very well regarded. Designated and named 
professionals regularly attend the CYSCB. The safeguarding teams within 
the two trusts are active in the multi-agency risk assessment conference 
(MARAC) process.  

48. The engagement of GPs in safeguarding arrangements is good and 
improving. All GPs have enhanced criminal record bureau checks and have 
received basic training with at least one GP in each practice having 
received further child protection training in line with professional 
guidelines. Some GPs attend child protection conferences and guidance is 
in place to ensure that reports to conferences contain the necessary 

Page 78



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

13 

information and are consistent. Other primary care staff are trained to 
minimum requirements.  

49. Robust safeguarding processes are in place in the emergency department 
at York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust including good quality 
arrangements to recognise, assess and refer children who may be at risk 
of abuse. The recording of children’s individual attendances is consistently 
completed. Procedures to ensure parental consent to treatment are 
appropriate. Health staff demonstrated a good awareness of potential risk 
indicators. The electronic system alerts staff to those children on a child 
protection plan and is being developed to include looked after children. 
Referral pathways are in place to identify safeguarding risks such as 
domestic violence and substance misuse. The safeguarding children team 
make daily visits to the emergency department to discuss any issues or 
concerns in respect of children’s welfare or safety that may require further 
action. Some nursing staff in the department are dual trained for both 
children and adults but there are insufficient numbers to ensure children’s 
specialists are available on each shift.  

50. The emergency department has adequate facilities to treat children and 
young people including a separate waiting area near to the main 
reception. There is suitable access to play equipment and play specialists 
based in paediatrics. Plans to improve the provision are about to be 
implemented with the addition of children’s treatment bays in the urgent 
care centre/walk-in centre. 

51. York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust has a special care baby unit 
which is well regarded by parents. Two neonatal outreach nurses visit 
families at home to provide medical advice and emotional support; good 
joint working with health visitors is reported. Recommendations following 
a recent serious case review in respect of staff awareness of risks to 
babies have been implemented.  

52. The Healthy Child Programme is delivered to good effect with improved 
outcomes for children and young people. Participation in the ‘Be a Star’ 
campaign has increased breastfeeding initiation rates in York which are 
above the regional average. York has achieved 95% coverage of the 
primary vaccination course by a child’s first birthday, which is better than 
the national average and the average for similar areas. By the age of five, 
the percentage of children who have received their second dose of the 
measles, mumps and rubella immunisation is higher than the national 
average.  

53. Health visitors work well with community nurses, nursery nurses and clinic 
nursing staff to deliver a good range of services to children under the age 
of five years. Positive feedback has been received from parents along with 
areas for improvement which the team has acted upon. School nurses 
provide an effective service to all mainstream schools. Staff numbers in 

Page 79



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

14 

the school and health visiting teams are sufficient to meet the demands of 
core and targeted work. Workloads are subject to appropriate 
management oversight and this is reported by staff as working well.  

54. A range of effective sexual health services together with a robust teenage 
pregnancy strategy have resulted in a significant reduction in under-18 
conceptions by 21.7% between 1998 and 2009 which is better than the 
national average. Sex and relationship education is provided in all schools 
and as a result of involving parents it has now been adapted for children 
with disabilities. Effective sexual health services are provided by YorSexual 
Health which has received the ‘You’re Welcome’ accreditation in February 
2011 which is given in recognition of young people’s involvement in 
planning and evaluation. There is very good access for young people to 
contraception advice and support through the Castlegate Centre, which is 
held in high regard by young people, and the nurse-led young people’s 
sexual health outreach team. However, although the percentage of young 
people screened for Chlamydia has improved, it remains below the 
national average and the work to improve uptake continues.  

55. Support for young people who misuse substances is good. The rate of 
young people under 18 years who were admitted to hospital because they 
have a condition wholly related to alcohol is similar to the England 
average. Parents with significant drug and alcohol problems who have 
children on child protection plans or whose children are in care are 
effectively supported by the city’s drugs and alcohol action team (DAAT). 
The service is the second most improved DAAT area nationally in relation 
to adults receiving treatment for opiate use. Young people are supported 
very well through the Castlegate Centre and through First Base, the young 
people’s drug and alcohol treatment service.  

56. Children and young people in York have access to, and benefit from, an 
exceptional CAMHS that delivers a comprehensive range of high quality 
services including those for eating disorders, learning difficulties, 
bereavement and the in-patient facility at Lime Trees. York has a very 
effective primary mental health team who are able to provide a service to 
approximately 75% of referrals, which demonstrates an effective use of 
resources as more specialist CAMHS support can be better directed to 
more complex work. They are involved in the targeted mental health in 
schools scheme (TaMHS) which is led by the Educational Psychology 
Service. Emotional literacy support assistants have good links with schools 
to ensure that support is swiftly provided and the scheme has 
demonstrated positive outcomes for targeted vulnerable pupils. Children 
and young people also benefit from the strong national CAMHS for 
children and young people who are deaf which is based in York. Staff 
reported that they exceed performance targets for access to this service. 

57. A good range of health services for children and young people with 
disabilities, including the child development centre, specialist therapy staff 

Page 80



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

15 

and a valued portage service is held in high regard by parents seen during 
the inspection. Children with life limiting illnesses have access to a 
palliative care service that is effectively supported by CAMHS. The two 
special schools are suitably supported by trained nurses and health care 
assistants. The co-location of health staff in children’s centres enables 
good communication with school and social care staff. Multi-agency 
transition to support the move to adult services are very focused on 
children’s needs and include a health passport to assist young people to 
take control of their health needs. Health professionals are very well 
integrated into the service.  

58. Arrangements for children and young people who have been subject to 
sexual assault are in place and are excellent. The Acorn Unit is a purpose 
built sexual assault referral centre that complies with the standards for 
paediatric forensic medical services. Young people who are looked after 
were involved in the development of the service and the choice of name.  

Ambition and prioritisation                         Grade 2 (good) 

59. Ambition and prioritisation are good. The well established YorOK 
Children’s Trust has worked very effectively to break down barriers 
between agencies. Consequently integrated working is well embedded 
both strategically and operationally. Partners demonstrate a strong shared 
responsibility for the welfare of all children and young people. The trust 
board engenders a climate of self critical reflection which is sharply 
focused on improvement and this approach is also reflected well in the 
work of the strategic planning groups that report to it. Relationships 
between the trust and the CYSCB are strong; the independent Chair of the 
safeguarding board provides effective external challenge. 

60. Partners’ ambitions for all children are clearly expressed in a strong 
children and young people’s plan (CYPP) and by senior managers across 
all agencies. The outcome of this ambition is seen in the comments made 
by children and young people during the inspection who, without 
exception, highly valued the levels of care and support they receive to 
make positive progress in their lives. 

61. Very child-centred senior leaders provide strong and focused leadership 
across key agencies. The Director of Children’s Services (DCS), along with 
the Chief Executive of the council drive forward key priorities for the 
development of early intervention, including the involvement of schools in 
supporting vulnerable children and young people. Current ambitions form 
a solid basis on which to develop new arrangements. Plans to implement 
the new strategic frameworks across health and social care are well 
advanced and the DCS is a member of the new Clinical Commissioning 
Group. Children’s issues are included in the joint strategic needs 
assessment. However, it is recognised that there is a need to more 
explicitly incorporate safeguarding related matters. The needs of all 
children are championed by a committed and well informed lead member. 

Page 81



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

16 

Elected members receive regular safeguarding briefings and training. 
However, the need to strengthen the active engagement of a wider group 
of members in safeguarding issues is acknowledged by the council. 

62. Local priorities are clear, well understood by front-line staff and their 
impact is examined well. Senior managers collectively plan and manage 
change effectively. For example, early intervention is a key shared local 
priority that has been carefully executed to ensure that an increasing 
number of children who need additional help are identified and supported. 
The extensively evaluated social care transformation strategy is well 
owned across key partners. Open and reflective strategic relationships 
generally lead to problems being identified at an early stage and collective 
action being taken to address them. Senior managers in children’s social 
care have a good understanding of the strengths and areas for 
development and acknowledge that further work is needed to fully embed 
consistently high quality work in some areas of practice.  

Leadership and management          Grade 2 (good) 

63. Leadership and management are good. Effective planning has ensured 
that there are sufficient numbers of qualified and experienced social 
workers and other staff to deliver services. Workloads in children’s social 
care are generally reasonable and a formal management system enables 
pressures to be suitably monitored. Additional social workers have been 
appointed so that case loads in the children’s advice and assessment 
service have significantly reduced; this was an area for development at 
the last unannounced inspection. All children subject to child protection 
plans are allocated to qualified social workers. Vacancy rates for most 
health posts are in line with national averages.  

64. The 2009-12 workforce strategy is an effective response to a 
recommendation from the joint area review of 2008. Local priorities in 
respect of integrated working have been clearly progressed. For example, 
the commitment to provide good quality learning is reflected in the 
specialist foundation degree and the ‘top up’ degree for the children’s 
workforce, including staff from voluntary and community sector agencies, 
which are delivered in partnership with York St John University. Shared 
children’s induction standards which provide a framework for newly 
appointed staff across partner agencies to understand their roles are in 
place, although the use and impact of these has not been evaluated. 
There is recognition that the children’s workforce and plan does not reflect 
the city’s current diversity. The council has produced a new corporate 
strategy which tackles these issues but making the necessary changes is 
at an early stage of development.  

65. Collectively the CYSCB and the council have developed a good range of 
well targeted training that reflects the views of front-line staff about their 
needs as well as strategic priorities. Learning opportunities, including the 
‘No Wrong Doors’ annual event for the children’s workforce, are very well 

Page 82



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

17 

regarded by staff across all sectors. Partners make their training available 
to staff from other agencies. Gaps in training provision are responded to 
effectively; for example, the training of lead practitioners in peer 
supervision methods. However, it is recognised that further progress 
needs to be made to measure the impact of learning on the quality of 
practice.  

66. Joint commissioning through the integrated commissioning group is 
excellent and well embedded. It reflects the high quality of partnership 
working and the robust processes that characterise the strategic approach 
taken in the city. Needs are very clearly identified and include the views of 
children and young people by means of a strong engagement strategy 
with them.  

67. Effective joint commissioning has led to a range of positive outcomes for 
children. The re-commissioning of drug and alcohol treatment services has 
contributed effectively to protecting children as parents have significantly 
increased access to drug rehabilitation and their children benefit from 
direct work to meet their needs. Resources were effectively redirected 
from the attendance-focused education welfare service into the children’s 
advice and assessment service. The savings made from reducing the 
number of external placements have been used to strengthen the 
outcome-based commissioning of early intervention provision. 
Safeguarding arrangements within this provision are well monitored and 
the processes are well regarded by the voluntary and community sector as 
thorough and fair. However, funding has been provided on a year-on-year 
basis which makes it difficult for providers to forward plan. 

68. Agencies also take prompt corrective action through joint commissioning 
when they collectively identify weaknesses or gaps in resources. For 
example, although there is a low number of young people not in 
education, employment or training (NEET), agencies, in partnership with 
further education colleges, have developed a number of flexible packages 
to support young people to maintain their attendance. As a result there is 
a 51% increase in participants taking entry level courses thus reducing 
their longer term vulnerability. Agencies also responded well to findings 
from a recent peer review, and strengthened the holistic support for 
homeless young people by developing the ‘Place of Change’ residential 
facility for homeless 16/19 year olds that also supports their re-
engagement in education. 

69. Resources are managed very well. Compared to other unitary authorities 
York receives a low level of national funding. Key services have been 
protected well through the council’s budget management process. The 
recently initiated independent and non political Fairness Commission 
recommended that social care services for the most vulnerable were 
protected and this was accepted by elected members. Although savings 

Page 83



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

18 

have been made across children’s services, the council has not reduced 
expenditure for children’s social care in 2012-14.  

70. Very strong strategic partnership working and an intelligent use of grant 
funding has created efficiency savings while improving the quality of 
provision. For example, the recent re-commissioning of transport contracts 
produced a saving of £200,000 and a higher quality service with all drivers 
completing safeguarding training. At a time of national and local budget 
reductions financial resources have been used very effectively to maintain 
services such as Catalyst, and children’s centre provision for vulnerable 
children. Resources are redirected from areas where good progress has 
been made, such as in reducing obesity, to sustain other provision and 
assets are efficiently used, for example through the co-location of 
services. Very good multi-agency action to review provision has led to 
investment in redesigned and highly valued services such as the 
integrated transitions service and the Castlegate Centre which provides 
support to 16-18 year olds. Schools, through the schools partnership, have 
contributed significant resources to support work with vulnerable children.  

71. Children’s views inform service improvement well. Their priorities are 
clearly reflected in the CYPP. The youth council’s priority to de-stigmatise 
free school meals is well supported by the YorOK Children’s Trust. Parents 
of disabled children are particularly well engaged in service planning, 
delivery and training through the parents’ forum CANDI (Children AND 
Inclusion). Feedback from children and their parents is collected by some 
services, for example by CAMHS and TaMHS and the children’s advice and 
assessment service has improved the process for informing families of 
what they should expect from an assessment as a result of their feedback. 
However, partners recognise that further work is needed to systematically 
collect, analyse and use feedback as the basis for improved service 
delivery. 

Performance management and quality assurance  

       Grade 2 (good) 

72. Performance management and quality assurances processes for 
safeguarding are good. There is a strong emphasis on using the findings 
to improve service delivery and front-line practice.  

73. Clear and challenging targets are set in relation to performance against 
national indicators. Progress in service development is systematically 
monitored by the YorOK Children’s Trust and senior managers and has led 
to significant improvements. For example, information from lead 
practitioners about the impact of common assessment processes has been 
periodically collected and the most recent review shows that outcomes for 
individual children are improving. However, the council and partners 
recognise the need to identify qualitative indicators to record and 

Page 84



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

19 

aggregate outcomes across groups of children so that the factors 
contributing to successful practice may be better understood. 

74. The CYSCB maintains a strong focus on monitoring safeguarding 
performance. The board receives annual reports on specific aspects of the 
council’s and partner agencies’ activities including private fostering, and 
missing children arrangements. Audits conducted in relation to compliance 
with safeguarding duties across partner agencies were last undertaken 
during 2008-9 and the board is in the process of repeating these audits. 

75. Young people make an important contribution to quality assurance 
through the young inspectors programme. Using observations, interviews 
and mystery shopping they have evaluated the quality of provision from 
the young person’s perspective. Agencies, such as Relate, report that the 
recommendations arising from these visits are invaluable. Young 
inspectors also identify that their self confidence has increased by taking 
part in this programme. 

76. Scrutiny arrangements undertaken by elected members are adequate. 
This was identified as an area for improvement following the joint area 
review and a more recent peer review found it to be still underdeveloped. 
The scope of the scrutiny function is wide and includes cultural services as 
well as children and education. Members are updated in relation to 
safeguarding performance. However, it is recognised that there is a need 
to further clarify the role of the group and to accelerate the development 
of priorities and plans. 

77. Performance management is well embedded within children’s social care 
including through the use of external challenge. Service plans are robust 
and reflect well areas for improvement emerging from inspection and 
internal and external audit and they are well monitored and evaluated. 
Plans are very well advanced to provide up to date individual performance 
information to assist front-line social workers in managing their workloads 
and targets.  

78. A monthly cycle of robust case file audits undertaken by service managers 
is driving improvements in social work practice, for example in recently 
improving the quality of core group meetings. Where the audits identify 
practice shortfalls, effective action is taken to address these. However, in 
the case file audits undertaken prior to this inspection not all the shortfalls 
in practice were fully identified by auditors. 

79. Staff across all key agencies receive regular supervision. Within children’s 
social care decisions are routinely signed off by managers; this was an 
area for improvement at the last unannounced inspection of contact, 
referral and assessment. Supervision arrangements in children’s social 
care have been robustly reviewed and the positive impact of this is now 
evident. Supervision is subject to annual audit, the latest of which found 
that most staff receive regular case supervision and have access to 

Page 85



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

20 

management support when needed. This was confirmed by this inspection 
where front-line staff reported that they highly valued the availability and 
visibility of managers, including senior managers, and that they receive 
good quality reflective supervision. However, this level of support was not 
consistently reflected in the recording of supervision in the files reviewed. 

Partnership working              Grade 1 (outstanding) 

80. Partnership working is outstanding. Effective leaders across all agencies 
have a clear shared strategic vision. They use collective resources well 
through very effective joint commissioning of provision. Competent 
managers have developed clear policies and protocols to support joint 
working over a wide range of areas. The impact of this is reflected in 
strongly cohesive service provision and a very strong commitment by staff 
to multi-agency working. Inspectors found that front-line staff share a 
very good understanding of each other’s services and effectively, and 
sometimes very imaginatively, undertake a range of successful joint 
interventions as a result. 

81. There are numerous examples of very effective partnership working 
described in this report. Schools are very successfully engaged in 
providing support to vulnerable children and those in need of protection. 
The schools partnership funded the post of safeguarding officer and this 
has strengthened safer recruitment, responses to allegations against staff 
and safeguarding training. The pupil premium is effectively used and 
monitored to extend children and young people’s experiences. Young 
people seen during the inspection highly appreciated the enrichment 
opportunity provided by the youth services’ use of outdoor learning 
through activities such as wild deer tracking, bush craft and survival skills. 
The police are particularly well involved in partnership working both 
strategically and operationally, including in relation to sexual exploitation. 
Operation Hindsight, a partnership between the police and schools, is well 
focused on issues of extremism and involves parents well.  

82. Local responses to domestic abuse exemplify the very good partnership 
working that exists in the city. A multi-agency programme supported and 
overseen by the CYSCB has strengthened provision well. Robust 
awareness raising, training and the consolidation of assessment and risk 
management across agencies have resulted in increased reporting rates 
and a significant fall in repeat incidents from 33% in 2009-10 to an 
average of 22% in the first seven months of 2011. MARAC arrangements 
work well to identify high risk cases. Multi-agency service provision has 
been considerably expanded and innovative work is undertaken including 
with children and young people and with male victims of abuse. Families 
affected by domestic violence are offered support to safely rebuild 
relationships. Advocacy services currently support 49 children aged 
between five and 13 and evaluation shows that they feel safer as a result 
of the support. Perpetrators are challenged to change their violent 

Page 86



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

21 

behaviour and have appropriate access to emergency accommodation 
through the ‘Making Safe’ project. 

83. Good use is made of the partnership with the voluntary and independent 
sectors. This is reflected in the current restructuring of the youth service. 
The authority’s own resources are being increasingly targeted on 
vulnerable children. However, the use of additional resources from partner 
agencies is ensuring that the universal offer is not eroded as a result. 

84. The strategic co-location of partner agencies makes an important 
contribution to joint working. Social work teams are co-located in 
children’s centres on school sites, alongside health visiting staff. Specialist 
police officers, education welfare staff and the specialist child protection 
nurse are well integrated into the work of the advice and assessment 
service. Inspectors observed a culture of respect operating among staff 
and managers at all levels across all agencies. 

85. This culture of respect is also reflected in the work of the highly effective 
CYSCB. The board discharges its statutory duties well and provides 
effective leadership, support and challenge. Partner agencies are highly 
committed to the work of the board and its sub-groups. Any variation in 
attendance by agencies is swiftly addressed. The voluntary sector is well 
represented and exerts effective influence. Two lay members have also 
been appointed. The thematic review of neglect is an example of the 
partnership’s collaborative and robust approach where complexities are 
firmly and effectively tackled. It is based on a thorough examination of 
national research and local practice through case audit and testing the 
thresholds for responding to neglect.  

86. The board retains an effective oversight to monitor developing practice in 
high risk areas of work. The LADO is responsible for overseeing strategy 
meetings that consider the needs of children and young people who have 
been or are at risk of being harmed by other children. Therapeutic needs 
of child perpetrators are also indentified and strategies such as placement 
changes and exclusion zones are put in place.  

87. The work of the CYSCB and its key priorities are effectively communicated 
and as a result the board’s priorities are understood and implemented 
across the partnership. The lessons from serious case reviews have been 
very effectively disseminated through a series of briefings and 
presentations. Front-line staff identify with the work of the CYSCB and 
some staff were able to explain to inspectors how findings from serious 
case reviews have been used to improve their practice. 

88. Child death overview arrangements are suitably managed through the 
North Yorkshire and York panel with York well represented on the panel. 
The annual report is presented to the CYSCB and the findings are 
analysed to inform practice and interventions. For example, a ‘safe 

Page 87



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

22 

sleeping’ campaign to raise awareness of the risks involved was launched 
following the panel’s response to local child deaths. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

23 

Services for looked after children 

Overall effectiveness       Grade 2 (good) 

89. The overall effectiveness of services for looked after children is good. 
Outcomes for looked after children are good across all areas. Effective 
care planning and very good multi-agency working benefits children and 
young people who progress well. All children and young people spoken to 
reported a consistently high level of satisfaction with their placements. 
They felt very well cared for by committed and loving foster carers or very 
well supported in their move to independence. All felt safe in their 
placements and in the community. Parents seen during the inspection 
strongly appreciated the support they and their children received. 

90. Outcomes from regulatory inspection of adoption, fostering and children’s 
homes are good or better. Performance against national indicators is 
better than the national average in most instances. The adoption service 
has delivered some of the best performance in England in 2010-2011 and 
2011-2012. Where performance is below what the local authority 
considers desirable, for example in relation to placement stability, good 
action is taken to understand the issues and robustly respond. 

91.  Looked after children and young people’s need are prioritised effectively 
in the children and young people’s plan (CYPP) and in the work of the 
YorOK Children’s Trust. Local leaders have an intelligent and in depth 
understanding of reasons children and young people become and remain 
looked after and this is reflected in a well articulated plan to reduce 
numbers safely. The looked after children strategy is an excellent 
reflection of children and young people’s views and priorities and the 
council’s and its partners’ ambitions for them.  

92. The quality of care planning is good. Front-line staff at all levels work well 
together to support children and young people in the high number of local 
foster placements. Sufficient skilled and committed staff from all agencies 
offer children regular and sensitive support, although it is acknowledged 
that the ethnicity of the workforce does not reflect the make-up of local 
communities. Health agencies, including in particular CAMHS and the 
virtual school are very well involved in sustaining fragile placements. Multi-
agency commissioning of the small number of external placements is very 
good. A particularly positive feature of multi-agency practice is the 
attention given to offering ‘second chances’ which is a reflection of what 
good parents offer their own children.  

93. Local resources are used well to make significant improvements in the 
quality of provision. For example, to enable young adults to live with their 
foster carers after the age of 18. Resources have been very effectively 
used so that a significant number of children on the edge of care, 
including children with severe and challenging disabilities, have been 

Page 89



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

24 

successfully diverted from becoming looked after. Numbers of children or 
young people placed externally or living more than 20 miles from the city 
are very low and consequently individual placement costs have reduced 
over the last three years.  

94. There remain some challenges to improve and sustain aspects of 
performance and management and senior managers are very aware of 
these. The involvement of a wider group of elected members in corporate 
parenting and scrutiny requires strengthening and the impact of this 
demonstrated. The number of completed personal educational plans 
(PEPS) is lower that the authority would wish and their quality is variable. 
Although staff report that they receive regular supervision, the quality of 
supervision provided for staff within the fostering and adoption service 
and children’s homes has not been audited. Recent improvements have 
been made to performance against national indicators in respect of 
timeliness of annual health assessments and the review of children’s 
cases. However, these improvements need to be further sustained.  

Capacity for improvement     Grade 1 (outstanding) 

95. Capacity for improvement is outstanding. Performance against the large 
majority of national indicators is good and in the case of adoption is 
outstanding. Planning for individual children is effective; children, young 
people and parents seen during the inspection strongly appreciated the 
care and support they received. Children and young people only become 
looked after when this is the option most likely to meet their needs. 
Safeguarding of looked after children is good and the CYSCB takes an 
active interest in their welfare and protection. The local authority and its 
partners have a robust track record of improvement together with the 
leadership, ambition and resources to drive forward good services. Taken 
together all these factors result in an excellent capacity for further 
improvement.  

96. Very child-centred senior managers set high aspirations for looked after 
children and young people. Targets are focused on improving already 
good performance, such as in relation to school attendance and 
educational achievement. The council has effectively maintained high 
quality services in several key areas of provision such as the adoption and 
fostering services, the pathway service for care leavers and the CAMHS for 
looked after children. The local authority and its key partners have an 
excellent record of achieving timely permanent placements, including 
through adoption and special guardianship. Multi-agency partnership 
working is excellent and partners have worked very well together to 
strengthen provision including responses to children and young people 
missing from care. Young people are listened to very well during this 
process and their voice is strongly reflected in an excellent strategy which 
sets correct and ambitious priorities for the next three years.  

Page 90



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

25 

97. Local resources are collectively used very well in commissioning 
arrangements. Where additional resources are demonstrated as necessary 
there is strong political support to provide these. Very robust action has 
been taken to respond to the findings from external inspections which are 
translated into appropriately detailed action plans. For example, the peer 
review’s recommendations have been or are in the process of being 
effectively implemented.  

Areas for improvement 

98. In order to improve the quality of provision and services for looked after 
children and young people in City of York, the local authority and its 
partners should take the following action. 

Immediately: 

§ ensure that every looked after child has an up to date personal 
education plan (PEP) of high quality and that reviews of these plans 
are timed so that every young person is able to attend.  

Within three months: 

§ bring together information about the educational progress of 
individual looked after children and young people that is held 
separately, to give a clear aggregated picture of trends and priorities 
and to better understand what needs to be achieved to further 
improve their achievement  

§ ensure that the quality of supervision for staff working in the 
adoption and fostering services and children’s homes is included in 
the local authority’s audit arrangements 

§ York Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and Harrogate and 
District NHS Foundation Trust should ensure that the recent 
improvements in the timeliness of initial and review health 
assessments are sustained 

§ NHS North Yorkshire and York should ensure that arrangements are 
in place to provide timely health assessments for looked after 
children and young people who live in external placements or whose 
placement address is outside of the city boundary. 

How good are outcomes for looked after 
children and care leavers? 

Being healthy            Grade 2 (good) 

99. Health outcomes for looked after children are good. The proportion of 
children with up to date immunisations and having a dental check is well 
above the England average and the average for similar areas. Effective 

Page 91



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

26 

leadership by the designated doctor and designated nurse in partnership 
with children’s social care has led to sizeable improvements in the 
proportion of looked after children receiving their annual assessment, 
which was significantly below the national average in the previous year. 
Robust new processes have improved timely notification of children 
becoming looked after and the capacity of clinics has been increased to 
include school holiday periods. Local data for 2012-13 shows that health 
assessments are now delivered within required timescales. However, this 
early progress is yet to be sustained.  

100. Local audit data shows the quality of health assessments is good; this was 
also the case for health assessments reviewed during this inspection. The 
purpose-built Acorn Unit provides exceptional facilities for the completion 
of initial health needs assessments. In order to reduce duplication, when 
children are medically examined due to concerns about neglect or abuse, 
the opportunity is taken to include information that would inform a looked 
after initial health needs assessment. This is good practice.  

101. Quality monitoring systems of health assessments for looked after children 
placed out of the city have been strengthened. However, these are not 
systematically completed in a timely way by the relevant health agency. 
This issue has been suitably raised with the regional commissioning 
network in order that this issue can be resolved by health organisations 
within the region. 

102. The specialist CAMHS team for looked after children and care leavers 
provides an outstanding service. Very good support is provided to children 
and their foster carers that enables local placements to be sustained and 
children’s behaviour to be confident and socially acceptable. Foster carers 
and social workers can refer children directly into the service and there 
are no waiting lists for support. Foster carers highly value the support they 
receive. Looked after children with disabilities benefit well from the joint 
clinic arrangements between clinicians from CAMHS and paediatricians and 
from the highly regarded FIRST (Family Intervention Rapid Service Team) 
programme. FIRST has provided intensive support to a small number of 
families of severely disabled children whose behaviour is challenging and 
young people have been supported to remain with their families and have 
been diverted from out of home placements. The CAMHS is well 
integrated into strategic planning and placement monitoring 
arrangements.  

103. Targeted health promotion services work well. All young people are 
screened for substance misuse and a pathway is in place to ensure prompt 
access. All looked after children and young people have access to sex and 
relationship education in schools and there are good links with the young 
people’s sexual health outreach team which provides very helpful support 
to young people. Therapeutic support is provided through the NSPCC to 
looked after children who have been sexually abused and their carers; as 

Page 92



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

27 

a result young people’s emotional well-being has improved and they 
perform better at school. 

104. It is recognised that the health care provision for care leavers is 
inconsistent. Young people over the age of 16 all have access to their GP. 
However, over and above this, care leavers are offered annual health 
assessments only if they remain in education. This gap has been 
recognised and has been tackled through new commissioning 
arrangements that have just come into place.  

105. There are very few children living in the city who have not been placed by 
the City of York as there are no independent foster care agencies or 
children’s homes within the local authority boundary. Those children who 
have been placed with carers from other local authorities living in the city 
have appropriate access to the full range of health care services. 

Staying safe           Grade 2 (good) 

106. The arrangements to safeguard looked after children and young people 
are good. Those spoken to during the inspection showed a very high level 
of satisfaction with the support they received. They were unstinting in 
their praise for their foster carers. Social workers and pathway workers 
were also described very positively. Of the looked after children and young 
people completing the ‘Care4Me’ survey carried out for the purpose of this 
inspection, nearly all thought they were living ‘in the right place’, were 
receiving good or very good care and felt safe or very safe where they 
lived.  

107. Work with children and young people on the edge of care is effective. 
Over the last year good work with vulnerable children has reduced the 
number of referrals to children’s social care and this has released capacity 
to undertake more in-depth assessments of need. There is a good range 
of provision. The Catalyst project works with families in serious difficulty 
and as a result of high quality multi-agency action 40 of the 199 children 
supported since April 2010 were prevented from becoming looked after. 
The council and its partners are further developing targeted services such 
as the ‘Minding the Baby’ project which works with vulnerable young 
mothers and their babies. Drug and alcohol services also make an 
effective contribution. 

108. Risk is managed well at the threshold for admission to care through robust 
management oversight, good cross-agency understanding of thresholds, 
and effective liaison with the council’s legal services. During the inspection 
all looked after children whose cases were examined were appropriately 
looked after.  

109. A high proportion (80%) of children and young people, including 74% of 
looked after 15-17 year olds, are provided with good quality care by local 
foster carers who have high aspirations for them. The children, young 

Page 93



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

28 

people and care leavers seen during the inspection gave high praise for 
the quality of the care they received commenting that carers ‘made me 
feel I belonged’ and that they received ‘loads of support and love’. As one 
said: ‘I wouldn’t be where I am today without them’. 

110. The local authority has undertaken extensive research into recent patterns 
of placement stability. The number of children with more than three 
moves in the last 12 months is well understood and includes very well 
planned moves to return children home and care leavers progressing 
towards independence. It also reflects the council’s success in achieving 
timely permanent placements; 82% of the children experiencing 
placement moves in the last year are in adoptive placements. Contingency 
plans are in place for every young person should the additional support 
offered to and by their second placement prove insufficient to enable 
them to remain in that placement.  

111. The recent stability of longer-term placements, although in line with the 
national average, has reduced and is not at the level to which the council 
aspires. The council is vigilant and working hard to improve performance. 
Senior managers understand well the reasons for recent variations, 
including the number of teenagers in the looked after population and ‘late 
entries’ to care. Robust tracking systems are in place. The multi-agency 
joint agency panel works very well to provide a good range of additional 
targeted support to prevent unplanned placement endings for those in 
local foster homes. In the cases reviewed during the inspection no child or 
young person was subjected to an inappropriate change of placement. 

112. Risk is managed well through good systems to ensure that children and 
young people are protected. All looked after children and young people 
are allocated to qualified social workers who see them regularly. Local 
agencies are very actively engaged in providing support. Good quality 
mentoring is particularly valuable for young people who find it difficult 
engaging with some professionals. Suitable consideration is given to 
ensuring that children’s cultural and language needs are met when a link 
is being made. The independent visitors scheme is effective and held in 
high regard by those who use it. Children are linked to an appropriate 
adult and through positive relationships are supported in making 
representations and having their voice heard.  

113. Arrangements for monitoring care placements are good. Statutory visits 
and care plan reviews for looked after children and care leavers are 
carried out at least in accordance with statutory requirements. Where 
circumstances indicate, children’s plans are reviewed more often. As a 
result, in those cases seen during the inspection, children and young 
people made good progress and outcomes such as engagement in 
education and emotional well-being were improving. The safety and 
quality of external placements are extensively evaluated before they are 
used through the advice and expertise of partners represented on the 

Page 94



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

29 

joint agency panel. The vast majority of those children placed externally 
are in provision judged good or better by Ofsted.  

114. Agencies work well together to prevent looked after children and young 
people going missing from care. The protocol was revised in August 2011 
and foster carers have been appropriately consulted about this work. The 
police make regular visits to the authority’s longer stay children’s home 
and intelligence is shared well in relation to the risks that young people 
may be exposed to while missing from care. 

Enjoying and achieving           Grade 2 (good) 

115. The impact of services on enabling looked after children and young people 
to enjoy and achieve is good. Almost two thirds of those placed in local 
provision or externally are in schools that are good or better and none 
attends an unsatisfactory school. The authority works hard to minimise 
disruption to children’s education, even when there are several changes in 
their placements. In admitting pupils, schools give the first priority to 
looked after children. Figures for 2011 show that the large majority stayed 
in the same school in the year leading up to their GCSE examinations.  

116. In 2010/11, the Key Stage 2 results for looked after children were above 
the averages for their counterparts in similar authorities and nationally. 
Over the last two years, the gap between the results for looked after 
children and those for all children locally and nationally has narrowed. 
Over the same period, there was a considerable rise in the proportion of 
children in care who achieved A* to C grades in five or more GCSE 
subjects, including English and mathematics. Results in 2011 were 
significantly higher than for looked after children in similar authorities and 
across the country. The achievement gap between 16-year-olds who are 
looked after and all children locally and nationally is narrowing.  

117. Last year, the Key Stage 2 English targets for looked after children were 
exceeded. The same was true at GCSE. The value added to the 
performance of looked after children, as they progress through school, is 
higher than the average for such children nationally. Of the random 
sample of cases examined on the virtual school’s database, the majority 
were making at least satisfactory progress. Officers and schools recognise 
the need to define clearer targets and timescales for fulfilling their 
ambition to raise attainment of looked after children and young people. 

118. Through regular visits from improvement partners, all schools, including 
academies, are challenged to raise attainment. Additional resources and 
help are provided for schools and individuals when progress is lower than 
expected. The performance of looked after children placed outside the 
authority is also carefully monitored.  

119. The school attendance of looked after children is better than for their 
counterparts in similar authorities and across the country and the most 

Page 95



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

30 

recent figures show that it continues to improve. In the last two years, no 
child in care has been permanently excluded from school. The number of 
fixed term exclusions has more than halved over the last three years but is 
still considerably higher than for all children in the authority. The very 
strong partnership between the authority, schools and a wide range of 
agencies ensures that children who are at risk of exclusion receive 
appropriate and timely support. The Danesgate Centre and other projects 
have had a clear impact in helping children who have become disengaged 
with education to resume their learning. 

120. The proportion of looked after children with an up to date PEP has 
fluctuated over the last four years. In 2010/11 the figure was 78.8%.The 
PEPs examined during the inspection did not consistently include full 
information on educational attainment and action plans did not always 
give precise details of targets and timescales for their completion. The 
timing of PEP reviews during the school day means that young people are 
sometimes reluctant to participate because they do not want to miss 
lessons or to be identified as being looked after.  

121. Looked after children are provided with a wide range of leisure activities. 
They have free entry to the city’s leisure centres and sports clubs and 
through the restructuring of the youth service the have access to an 
increasing variety of activities specifically designed for them. The provision 
made by the authority is further enhanced through close collaboration 
with the voluntary sector. Those providers who have clear safeguarding 
and quality assurance systems are allowed to advertise their activities in 
the ‘Shine’ magazine which is distributed to all schools. As a result, young 
people, including those looked after, have the opportunity to experience a 
wide range of artistic, sporting and cultural activities that help to enrich 
their lives.  

Making a positive contribution, including user engagement 

             Grade 2 (good) 
122. Opportunities for looked after children and young people to make a 

positive contribution are good. They are helped to present their ideas 
clearly and succinctly and a memorable aspect of this inspection was the 
quality of the contributions that they made. They are provided with 
several means of speaking out on issues that matter to them. These 
include PEP and care plan reviews, membership of school councils and 
authority-wide fora. The most recent figures show that 98% of looked 
after children over the age of four contribute to the reviews of their care 
plans although, in most cases, this is done indirectly.  

123. Appropriate opportunities for looked after children to influence decisions 
made by the local authority are provided through the children in care 
council, ‘Show Me that I Matter’, and the ‘I Matter 2’ group for 12- to 15-
year-olds. Members of both groups liaise with senior officers and elected 

Page 96



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

31 

members and the children in care council reports directly to the YorOK 
Children’s Trust. The groups made an important contribution to the 
development of the Pledge. A concerted effort is being made to increase 
the participation of young people who have learning difficulties and/or 
disabilities. There is no formal link between the children in care council 
and the youth council.  

124. The effect of these groups on the shaping of services is reflected in a 
number of ways. For example, through extensive consultation with young 
people, parents, carers, GPs and other health care representatives, the 
children in care council succeeded in bringing about a reduction in the 
number of formal medical examinations that looked after children have to 
undergo. They persuaded the Mayor to make the Mansion House available 
for the care leavers’ Christmas party and were responsible for planning a 
major event which celebrated a very wide range of achievements by 
looked after children, in order to combat negative images in the press. 
They have also organised events to celebrate the work of their carers. 

125. The ‘I Matter 2’ group recently conducted a survey of young people’s 
experiences in care. The results are used by officers and elected members 
to identify areas for improvement, such as increasing young people’s 
understanding of the role of independent reviewing officers. This group 
helped to revise the format of the PEP and is preparing a DVD to help 
young children understand the council’s Pledge.  

Economic well-being           Grade 2 (good) 
126. The impact of services in enabling children and young people in care to 

achieve economic well-being is good. The proportion of care leavers in 
education, employment and training has fluctuated over the last five 
years. It has been consistently lower than the averages for care leavers in 
similar areas and nationally. The most recent in-year figures indicate there 
has been a significant improvement to 81.3%, which is higher than the 
authority’s target of 77%. The authority is able to identify precise reasons 
for non-engagement by any young person. 

127. In close collaboration with a range of employers and other agencies, the 
Danesgate Centre has devised a wide range of programmes for young 
people who are disengaged from education. Case studies show that these 
are having a considerable impact in re-kindling care leavers’ interest in 
learning and improving their life chances.  

128. There is a strong 14-19 partnership which includes the academies, as well 
as schools maintained by the authority. A two-year pilot programme 
provides young people, including care leavers, with personalised 
programmes that include significant work placements. The council’s own 
apprenticeship and pre-apprenticeship programmes give priority to care 
leavers and are proving popular with young people.  

Page 97



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

32 

129. Four care leavers are currently at university, each of which has a kite mark 
for care. These students are provided with appropriate financial support. 
They are also supported emotionally through regular contacts from their 
social workers. Close liaison with pastoral care providers within the 
universities ensures that the needs of these young people are recognised 
and met. There are similar protocols for sharing information with further 
education colleges attended by care leavers. A voluntary post-16 PEP is 
being developed to strengthen this work. 

130. The pathway team provides an effective integrated service for care 
leavers. A single point of access in the city centre ensures that all services 
are readily available. Different levels of support and an extensive range of 
information and advice are available to help care leavers deal with issues 
in their lives. Those who choose not to engage with services are provided 
with a ‘continuous offer letter’ which identifies the range of support which 
would be most beneficial to them. If the young person eventually contacts 
any one of the named services, information can be shared and a coherent 
programme of inter-agency support quickly put in place. Young adults 
over the age of 21 not in education or training continue to be supported if 
there is a need for this. All the care leavers who met with inspectors had a 
pathway plan to which they had contributed. The plans seen were of a 
good quality and young people make an important contribution to their 
development and review.  

131. All care leavers are suitably housed. The young people who spoke to 
inspectors were happy with where they lived and felt safe there. The 
pathway service provides access to a wide range of accommodation and 
the ‘Staying Put’ scheme ensures stability in the lives of young people, 
especially those who wish to continue with their education or who are in 
the armed forces. 

Quality of provision             Grade 2 (good) 

132. The quality of provision for looked after children and care leavers is good. 
All local agencies are actively engaged in promoting their safety and well-
being. This reflects the high priority accorded to looked after children by 
the council and its partners. The council’s fostering and adoption services 
together with a children’s home are judged as good in the latest 
inspections. The short breaks care unit for children with a disability is 
outstanding.  

133. The majority of assessments completed in respect of looked after children 
are of good quality, take appropriate account of their history and contain a 
clear analysis of risk. Children are routinely seen during assessment and 
their wishes and feelings are established. Risks to siblings posed by looked 
after young people are assessed well. Assessments prepared for the 
Family Proceedings Court in respect of family members’ parenting abilities 
and their capacity for protecting children from further risks are of a high 
quality. Written agreements are used effectively for children at risk of 

Page 98



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

33 

entering care due to abuse or neglect after discussion at legal planning 
meetings and following family group conferences which have discussed 
the extent to which children could remain within their wider family 
network. 

134. Changing needs of children and young people are routinely monitored and 
support to placements is effectively harnessed. There are a significant 
number of front-line staff and managers in children’s social care who are 
able to provide consistency and a historical perspective about the children. 
The virtual school, local health services, CAMHS and family support 
workers all contribute well to meet the needs of looked after children and 
young people. The inspection found examples of outstanding direct work 
with looked after children and young people.  

135. Children’s racial, cultural and linguistic identity are considered well overall 
through work tailored to individual needs. Work with looked after children 
who have a disability is of a high standard. Examples were seen of 
sensitive life story work with birth fathers to enable children to understand 
their heritage and of effective work with disabled parents. The needs of 
the small number of non-White children in York’s care population are 
suitably taken into account in care planning.  

136. The good quality support is appreciated by the children and young people 
seen by inspectors. All children and parents reported that they are treated 
with dignity and respect. They explained that they are very well listened to 
and their views make a difference most of the time. Parents were also 
very appreciative of the quality of care and support given to their children 
and to themselves. One commented that the intensive support offered had 
‘saved my life’.  

137. Care planning is soundly undertaken. The majority of care plans reviewed 
during the inspection were of good quality. Reviews of children’s care are 
appropriately attended by professionals with a meaningful connection to 
the child. The independent reviewing officer (IRO) team are strongly 
committed to overseeing the quality of care and to listening to looked 
after children and young people’s voices. They make appropriate challenge 
to care plans, act to halt emerging delay and effectively ensure that 
actions to manage risk are followed through. The inspection found clear 
evidence of listening and taking seriously the views and wishes of parents 
and children, even if the plan for the child was not in accord with those 
wishes. Appropriate action has been taken to tackle a lack of capacity in 
the IRO service due to the increased number entering care. Their 
caseloads are now as recommended and they have recently been able to 
undertake the full range of duties as required by statutory guidance.  

138. There is very effective consideration of plans to enable children and young 
people to live in permanent placements or to return home safely. 
Specialist fostering and adoption staff meet children’s social workers very 

Page 99



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

34 

regularly and the progress of plans is diligently tracked by managers. As a 
result of this work younger children who cannot return home are speedily 
placed in permanent placements by means of adoption or placement with 
connected persons subject to a special guardianship order. The council’s 
adoption performance is very strong. During 2008-11, 19% of children 
were adopted from care compared to 12% nationally. Additionally the 
number of children who waited less than 21 months between entering 
care and moving in with their adoptive family is very significantly higher at 
83% than the national average of 58%.  

139. Case recording is generally up to date. Overall the quality is satisfactory 
and a proportion is of good quality. Training to improve the quality of 
records as a tool for practice and for care planning is on offer for all social 
workers. 

Ambition and prioritisation            Grade 2 (good) 

140. Ambition and prioritisation is good. Partners across all agencies have high 
aspirations for looked after children and care leavers which are 
demonstrated in the priority accorded to narrowing the achievement gap 
between looked after children and all children in York. The Children’s Trust 
has developed a well established culture of integrated working within 
which the needs of, and performance in relation to, looked after children is 
well embedded and sharply focused on improving already satisfactory or 
good performance.  

141. Priorities are well articulated within the CYPP 2009-12 and are clearly 
focused on fluctuations in performance such as placement stability. The 
council and its partners have achieved good success in some key service 
priorities such as consistency of social work support before, during and 
after children become looked after. There is an increased number of good 
quality local foster care placements, fewer children are placed externally 
and a recent improvement in the timeliness of reviews of care plans is 
reflected in the performance against national indicators which is generally 
in line or better than similar authorities.  

142. Senior managers within the city council provide strong direction and 
leadership in relation to the looked after children’s agenda. For example, 
in understanding the make-up of the looked after children population and 
how their needs may be best met. This robust management is illustrated 
by the current exceptionally good multi-agency strategy. It is child-
focused, well informed by local and national research and, most 
importantly, by the views and concerns of children and young people. It 
explains how the council and partners will respond positively to their 
wishes and feelings in practical ways. Children and young people met 
during the inspection confirmed that they felt heard by senior managers.  

143. There is good cross-party support for corporate parenting. The recently 
appointed lead member is well informed of current pressures and 

Page 100



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

35 

challenges. A very small number of elected members meet regularly with 
the ‘Show Me that I Matter’ group. Other members visit the two children’s 
homes and sit on the fostering and adoption panels. All members have 
access to training in relation to their responsibilities as corporate parents. 
However, it is recognised that further work is needed to increase elected 
members’ understanding of and involvement in corporate parenting and a 
new corporate parenting group has been developed although it is yet to 
have its first meeting. It is also recognised that there is scope to develop 
the involvement of other departments in the city council within the 
corporate parenting agenda. 

Leadership and management       Grade 2 (good) 

144. Leadership and management are good. The rate of looked after children 
has increased and is above the national average and the rate in similar 
areas. The reasons for this rise are well understood as arising from young 
children who require protection along with the outcome of effective work 
to ensure that a higher than average proportion of older young people 
remain in care between the ages of 16 to 18 and beyond. Twelve young 
adults have remained in their foster placements after the age of 18. The 
council is predicting a reduction in numbers as young people who have 
been looked after for some time move on from their care settings. 
Inspectors found no examples where children who should have been 
looked after did not enter care.  

145. In recognition of this, key local priorities are to reduce the rate of looked 
after children and increase placement stability. Senior managers have 
invested significant resources in developing and commissioning effective 
early intervention and edge of care services. Commissioning processes are 
well regarded by local voluntary and community sector agencies.  

146. Joint commissioning and review of external placements by the joint 
agency panel is excellent. It is exceptionally well managed and monitored 
by managers who understand the needs of each individual child and 
young person in depth. Due to a good supply of local foster carers there 
are few children needing commissioned placements so that these are 
individually agreed on the basis of specific need. Only seven children are 
placed externally in independent foster care placements compared to 178 
placed with local carers. Good attention is paid to safeguarding needs 
when seeking placements and a robust process of checking against 
inspection outcomes and other available information takes place prior to 
placement. Despite significant recent financial pressures the council took 
the decision to ensure children remain in external placements if these 
continue to meet their needs.  

147. Weaknesses in services and resources are very well understood and 
effective action is taken to address these. Strenuous efforts to expand the 
number of local foster carers have produced a good recent increase in the 
number of fostering households from 95 in January 2010 to 126 in March 

Page 101



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

36 

2012. Forty four ‘special scheme’ carers offer placements to children and 
young people with challenging behaviour. As a consequence the council 
can meet the statutory sufficiency duty. Clear improvements in service 
delivery have been made using the skills of voluntary and community 
sector providers. For example, providing additional accommodation and 
one to one and group support to strengthen emotional resilience and self 
esteem as care leavers move into independence.  

148. The workforce strategy clearly prioritises the development of an integrated 
children’s workforce and training. For example, the introduction of 
induction standards and the opening up of training opportunities within 
partner agencies to the wider children’s workforce. The workforce plan 
does not yet reflect the diversity of the local population and action has 
been taken at a corporate level to tackle this. Foster carers are highly 
valued in York as members of the children’s workforce and are included in 
key strategic planning fora. The local foster care association is also used 
well by the council to canvass the views of a wider group of carers. Carers 
enjoy access to the same local benefits package as council employees. 
Although parents’ views are effectively taken into account in care planning 
for their own children, opportunities for them to be connected to strategic 
and service planning are limited.  

149. Training and learning opportunities for staff across all agencies and carers 
are varied and well targeted; this was confirmed by staff seen during the 
inspection. Care planning training is offered annually and there is a regular 
programme of in-depth training on attachment delivered by local CAMHS 
as well as training in relation to PEPs and briefings about educational 
attainment. Foster carers’ learning is enhanced through the development 
of the accredited foundation certificate in partnership with York St John 
University.  

150. All looked after children’s cases are allocated to qualified social workers. 
Senior managers have prioritised the reduction of workloads and have 
developed a workload weighting system to assist in this. As a result 
caseloads are generally manageable and have resulted in a greater equity 
of work across teams. However, balancing the competing demands of 
child protection, court work and care planning for children in stable 
placements is reported by social workers to be challenging on occasions.  

151. Financial resources for looked after children have been used very 
effectively. Average placement costs per child have reduced between 
2007-8 and 2011-12 by £299 through increased use of local foster carers, 
including for older children, and a low use of independent agencies and 
children’s home placements. As well as reducing costs this has been 
beneficial for looked after children by the greater use of family placements 
and local resources. At a time of financial stringency the council has 
increased the budget for children’s social care by an additional £500,000 
for 2012-13 in recognition of the additional demands placed on services by 

Page 102



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

37 

increased numbers of looked after children. Strong commissioning and 
effective service delivery has also produced savings while significantly 
improving the quality of services to families where children are at risk of 
entering care. For example, the FIRST project has avoided a projected 
expenditure of around £500,000 against placements that would otherwise 
have been made.  

152. Statutory guidelines in relation to the small number of complaints made by 
looked after children and young people are followed well. The complaints 
process is well managed and child-focused. However, the quality of work 
is not reflected in a separate complaints report that focuses on children’s 
issues. The service works effectively with the children’s rights and 
advocacy services and IROs. All complaints are resolved at the earliest 
stage. Children can make complaints using a variety of media and each 
child making a complaint is personally visited by the children’s rights 
service. There is a close working relationship with IROs who are effective 
advocates for children. Statutory guidelines in relation to complaints made 
against staff working with children are followed effectively. 

Performance management and quality assurance  

     Grade 2 (good) 

153. Performance management is well established across the partnership and 
agencies are effectively held to account through the work of the strategic 
management group, the joint agency panel and the CYSCB. Recent work 
using an external consultant to clarify the roles and responsibilities of 
practice managers and service managers is helping to improve the 
efficiency and effectiveness of front-line performance management.  

154. Performance against national and local indicators is systematically and 
comprehensively monitored by the YorOK Children’s Trust and by senior 
managers within children’s social care. Most performance targets are met. 
Service plans are robust. The progress of action to tackle weaker areas of 
performance is monitored closely and this information, together with 
national and local research, is used effectively to inform improvements to 
practice. The outcomes achieved by looked after children are appropriately 
identified and recorded in individual care planning but the local authority 
recognises that there is further progress to be made in developing 
outcome-related evaluation measures of children’s progress and in 
aggregating outcomes for the whole looked after population.  

155. Audits of looked after children’s cases are routinely undertaken in 
children’s social care and are used well to improve practice. Audits include 
work undertaken in the fostering and adoption services. Senior managers 
have a limited role in auditing although they have a good detailed 
knowledge of individual children whose situations are causing concern. 
The multi-agency audits undertaken in connection with this inspection did 

Page 103



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

38 

not consistently deliver a holistic picture of the work audited and the 
outcomes of the auditing process were not specified.  

156. Social workers overseeing the case of looked after children and care 
leavers benefit from regular management oversight and supervision. 
Management decisions are routinely evidenced on children’s case 
recording. Inspectors identified some good examples of the appropriate 
intervention and oversight by senior managers in very complex cases. The 
quality of supervision is audited annually but does not include staff 
working in the adoption and fostering service and in the children’s homes 
and this is an omission.  

Page 104



City of York Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

39 

Record of main findings: 

 
Safeguarding services 

Overall effectiveness Good 

Capacity for improvement Outstanding 

Safeguarding outcomes for children and young people 

Children and young people are safe and feel safe Good 

Quality of provision Good 

The contribution of health agencies to keeping children 
and young people safe 

Good 

 

Ambition and prioritisation Good 

Leadership and management Good 

Performance management and quality assurance Good 

Partnership working Outstanding 

Equality and diversity Good 

Services for looked after children  

Overall effectiveness Good 

Capacity for improvement Outstanding 

How good are outcomes for looked after children and care leavers? 

Being healthy Good 

Staying safe Good 

Enjoying and achieving Good 

Making a positive contribution, including user 
engagement 

Good 

Economic well-being Good 

Quality of provision Good 

 

Ambition and prioritisation Good 

Leadership and management Good 

Performance management and quality assurance Good 

Equality and diversity Good 

 

Page 105



Page 106

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 4 
 

        
 

York Corporate Parenting Board 
Draft Terms of Reference 

 

Vision of York Strategy for Looked After Children 
 
The vision of the York strategy for looked after children is simple - we want our children 
and young people to have everything that good parents want for their children. We 
want our looked after children and young people to work with us, along with their 
parents and carers, in shaping how we manage and organise the planning, resources 
and services that support and care for them. We want our children and young people 
to be happy and healthy, both physically and emotionally, to be safe and protected 
from harm and exploitation, and to be supported each step of the way to adult life. We 
want them to achieve their potential, especially at school, to make the most of the 
learning opportunities they are offered and to participate in the decisions affecting their 
care and their lives. This includes making the transition to adulthood with continuity of 
support, access to good jobs and higher education, while living in good housing and 
being financially secure. Our strategy invites us to work together with common 
purpose, putting the care of our looked after children at the heart of everything we do. 
 

 

Purpose of Board 
 

• To raise awareness of the Council’s corporate parenting responsibilities among 
elected members and officers.  

• To provide a forum for elected members to oversee the progress of all looked 
after children, through the implementation of the Looked After Children Strategy 
2012-15, and to monitor the delivery of York’s Pledge to Children and Young 
People in Care.  

• To ensure that all looked after children and young people have a positive 
experience and that the strategy enhances their outcomes  

• To encourage all partners, whether they work for health or social care services or 
the voluntary sector, to work in an integrated manner in the best interests of 
looked after children and care leavers; 

• To lead cultural and behavioural change to promote better outcomes for looked 
after children and care leavers; 

• To hold all partners to account for their role in the delivery of services to looked 
after children and care leavers. 

Agenda Item 6Page 107



Page 2 of 4 
 

        
 

 
Remit 
 

York Corporate Parenting Board will: 
 

• Provide leadership across the city to create a more effective and efficient health 
and wellbeing for looked after children; 

• Take responsibility for the quality of services for looked after children 
• Work effectively with and through partnership bodies, with clear lines of 
accountability and communication; 

• Share expertise and intelligence and use this synergy to provide creative 
solutions to complex issues; 

• Agree the strategic priorities for services for looked after children, as a Board  
• Make a positive difference, improving the outcomes for all looked after children 
and those who use our services. 

 
York Corporate Parenting Board will not: 
 

• Manage work programmes or oversee specific pieces of work – acknowledging 
that operational management needs to be given the freedom to manage. 

• Be focused on the delivery of specific services – the Board will concentrate on 
the “big picture”. 

• Take responsibility for the outputs and outcomes of specific services – these are 
best monitored at the level of the specific organisations responsible for them. 

• Be the main vehicle for the voice of looked after children  – this will be the 
responsibility of Show Me That I Matter (the children in care council). The Board 
will however regularly listen to and respect the views of individuals and the wider 
looked after children’s community. 

 
Support to the Board 

• Administrative and governance support to the Corporate Parenting Board will be 
provided by Democratic Services. A Democracy Officer will be responsible for 
organising meetings, publishing agenda papers, attending meetings and 
publishing minutes of each meeting. This officer will also advise the Board on 
constitutional procedures where necessary. 

 
• Technical support in preparing reports for the Board and giving advice to the 
Board in relation to looked after children and care leavers will be provided by the 
Directorate of Adults, Children and Education. 

Page 108



Page 3 of 4 
 

        
 

Details 
 
1. Name  

 
1.1 The Board will be known as the York Corporate Parenting Board (“the Board”)  

2. Membership 

2.1 The Membership of the Board will consist of: 

• The Cabinet member for Education, Children and Young People’s Services  

• The elected member on the Adoption Panel and Fostering and Sharing 
Care Panel.  

• The elected members on the Show Me That I Matter Panel (children in care 
council) 

• The elected members who visit Wenlock Terrace and The Glen 

• Any other appropriate elected or co-opted members appointed to the 
Corporate Parenting Board by the Council. 

3. Constitutional Status 

3.1 The Corporate Parenting Board is established in the Council’s Constitution and 
as such will adhere to its constitutional rules around the convening of meetings 
and publication of business.  

4. Quorum 

4.1 The Quorum shall be 3 members  

5. Chair 

5.1 The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Board shall be elected from the membership of 
the Board at the first meeting and thereafter will be agreed by full Council 
annually. 

5.2 In the absence of the Chair the Vice-Chair shall chair the meeting. 

 

Page 109



Page 4 of 4 
 

        
 

6. Frequency of Meetings 

6.1 The Board shall meet no less often than four times a year.  

7. Access to Meetings 

7.1 The public shall have the same right of access to meetings, agendas, reports and 
background papers as apply to any other advisory body supported by the 
Council. 

7.2 The public shall have the same rights to address the meeting as apply at all 
meetings of the Council under the Public Participation Scheme.  

8. Conduct 

8.1 The Board and its members will operate in accordance with the standards of 
behaviour and principles required by the Council’s Code of Conduct, which 
applies to both councillors and any person appointed as a co-opted member to a 
board or committee of the Council. 

Page 110


	Agenda
	
	5 Scene Setting for the Work of the Corporate Parenting Board
	LAC Strategy Document Final - Agenda Item 4
	10 Questions to ask if youre scrutinising services for looked after children
	051_Safeguarding_and_looked_after_children_inspection_as_pdf

	6 Terms of Reference

